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Highlights

2007 in EUR 2006 in EUR

Gross Premium 87,625,291 76,715,594

Net Premium 50,317,442 39,579,151

Gross Losses 44,833,529 30,652,620

Net Losses 28,155,302 18,775,965

Gross Technical Provisions* 60,224,888 47,330,156

Net Technical Provisions* 40,407,672 34,038,567

Retention Ratio 57.4% 51.6%

Net Technical Provisions as % of Net Premium Written* 80.3% 86.0%

Loss Ratio 67.6% 61.2%

Expense Ratio 24.3% 22.7%

Combined Ratio 91.9% 83.8%

Operating expenses as % of Gross Premium 2.5% 2.3%

Number of Employees (as at 31.12.) 29 24

Shareholders’ funds* 33,813,935 28,643,408

Profit before tax* 6,098,416 8,694,193

Return on Equity* 13.4% 20.1%

* Triglav Re adopted International Financial Reporting Standards in the year 2007, therefore values for 
the year 2006 are stated in accordance with IFRS and differ compared to values stated in Business 
report 2006.
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Chairman´s
Message

Dear shareholders and business 
partners,

The financial year 2007 was again a 
very successful one for Triglav Re. While 
we experienced some large losses, both 
on group and non-group portfolio and fur-
ther softening of the reinsurance market, 
we nevertheless produced very favour-
able net results. ))

�
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This event is considered as the biggest Cat 
loss that Triglav Group has sustained in its 
long history. Due to Group catastrophe cover 
that has been triggered the impact of the loss 
on Triglav Re’s result was limited. 

As we reflect upon the past year, I want to 
acknowledge the hard work and motivation 
of Triglav Re’s employees and the support 
of our clients and shareholders. In order to 
ensure successful future development of the 
company I count on your continuous trust and 
dedication.

Gojko Kavčič
Chairman of the Board of Management 
Triglav Re, Reinsurance Company Ltd.

Business Report Chairmans massage

(( Our mother company Triglav Insurance 
Company continued with expansion in South-
Eastern Europe by the acquisition of Krajina 
Kopaonik, the insurer in Bosnia and Herzegov-
ina, followed by the take over of Macedonian 
market leader Vardar Insurance Company. 
Both these new members are already suc-
cessfully consolidated in the Group reinsur-
ance protection.

Our strategic commitment to provide best 
possible reinsurance service to companies 
within the Triglav Group on one hand and fur-
ther diversification of our operations in foreign 
markets on the other was proven again. It is 
noteworthy that 40 percent of the net premi-
um was generated from non-group cedents.
  
Gross premium written in 2007 increased 
by 14 percent to EUR 87.6 million. As in the 
previous years the growth was mainly driven 
by the non-group acceptances which can be 
seen in a 27 percent increase of the net pre-
mium written. Despite a not so favourable 
year in terms of loss intensity it is pleasing 
that we achieved a profit before tax of EUR 
6.1 million, a similar level as in 2006, a year 
considered as outstanding by results. The 
overall loss ratio was 67.6 percent, which is 
a deterioration compared to 61.2 percent in 
the year 2006 and combined ratio was 91.9 
percent. The strong financial position of the 
company is reflected in a capital adequacy 
ratio that reached 270.4 percent at the end 
of 2007. 

In the year under review we managed to en-
ter some new markets such as Israel, UAE 
and mainland China. At the same time we in-
creased our presence in Turkey, South Korea 

and Russia. However, it is still the European 
Union that is our major non-group territory, 
representing around 50 percent of the non-
group business. 

Notwithstanding the above and despite the 
sizeable increase in premium written in for-
eign markets, Slovenia remained our largest 
market also in 2007. Business coming from 
Slovenian cedents accounted for 64.1 per-
cent of our gross premium written. 

During the year 2007, we introduced a new 
marketing approach by appointing client man-
agers to deal with individual territories in or-
der to intensify business relations with our 
present and potential cedents. With the aim of 
further diversification of Triglav Re’s portfolio 
we put extra care to selective territories that 
promise healthy underwriting results. 

After the year 2006, considered as one of 
the most favourable years in the reinsurance 
industry, we need to point out the most impor-
tant event on the non-group portfolio loss side 
in 2007. Our strong presence in Austrian and 
German markets led to the biggest loss ever 
in Triglav Re’s non-group business, caused by 
windstorm Kyrill that hit Europe in February. 
The loss figure for our share is estimated at 
EUR 2,1 million. Furthermore we were also 
involved to some extent in natural disaster 
losses like the South Korea typhoon, Cyclone 
Gonu in the Middle East and the United King-
dom floods.

On the Group side it is worth mentioning the 
catastrophic event in September 2007, when 
the vast area of North West and North East 
Slovenia was hit by heavy rain and flash floods. 
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Report by the 
President of the 
Supervisory 
Board

Throughout the year, the Supervisory 
Board of the Triglav Re d.d., Reinsur-
ance Company regularly and actively 
monitored the operations of the com-
pany. Its members have carried out the 
supervisory duties in accordance with 
the valid legislation, with adherence to 
the recommendations of the Association 
of the Supervisory Board Members, and 
adherence to the valid principles of man-
agement within the Triglav Group.  ))
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l	 issued a permission for transfer of 
300 shares of Triglav Re, d.d., Reinsurance 
Company owned by the company Kovinoplas-
tika Lož, to the company Maksima Holding, 
d.d.;

l	 examined the state of risk manage-
ment and activities for meeting the targets, 
connected to the risks;

l	 examined the proposal of the Strate-
gic Plan of Internal Audit of Triglav Re, d.d., 
Reinsurance Company for the period of 2008 
– 2011; 

l	 confirmed the materials for the 
Shareholders General Meeting, which was 
held on 25 January 2008.

Ratification of the Annual Report for 2006 
and proposal of allocation of balance profit
The Supervisory Board verified the formal 
perspectives in connection with the Annual 
Report of Triglav Re, d.d., Reinsurance Com-
pany for the business year 2006. We estab-
lished it was made within the legally specified 
deadline and that it contains all the required 
components. The accuracy of insurance-
technical reservations was confirmed by the 
authorised actuary and auditor. After the 
performed verification we unanimously con-
firmed the Annual Report at our 13th meeting, 
on 25 April 2007.

Formally we also verified the proposal of the 
Management Board for the distribution of bal-
ance profit and established that the profit was 
allocated in accordance with regulations. The 
Management and the Supervisory Boards, af-
ter this proposal, proposed to the Sharehold-
ers General Meeting the adoption of the reso-
lution on the allocation of the profit.  

The reinsurance company actively contrib-
uted to the growth of the Triglav Group and 
to its development toward the leading insur-
ance and financial group in the South-Eastern 
Europe. Its strategic goals and group targets 
were successfully met by the solid support to 
the companies when entering new markets, 
and by the active contribution to the utilisation 
of synergies within the group. Furthermore, 
it helped expand its operations on the world 
reinsurance market. In the future, the effec-
tive operations of the Triglav Re reinsurance 
company shall undoubtedly significantly con-
tribute to the success and strength of the en-
tire Triglav Group. 

Andrej Kocič, MBA
President of the Supervisory Board 
Triglav Re, Reinsurance Company Ltd.

Business Report Report by The President of the Supervisory Board

(( The Supervisory Board carried out its su-
pervisory function predominantly at their 
meetings, its successful implementation was 
aided considerably by a detailed and timely 
reports submitted by the Management. The 
reports contained all the information on com-
pany operations according to the areas, and 
comparisons with the past years and with the 
plans for the current year. This data enabled 
an overview of the entire operations of the 
reinsurance company. The members of the 
Supervisory Board were able to follow the 
company operations with up-to-date informa-
tion. The Management and the Supervisory 
Boards were in continuous communication 
and creative cooperation; the latter is consid-
ered very successful.

The Supervisory Board assessed the op-
erations of Triglav Re in 2007 as good. The 
company increased its net revenue from pre-
miums by more than a quarter. In a very loss 
intensive year, in spite of 40 % increase of 
expenses for losses because of catastrophic 
weather conditions, the company created € 
6.1m profit. It also made progress regarding 
the implementation of its strategic goal – an 
increase in the share of businesses, conclud-
ed outside the Triglav Group. In 2007, these 
businesses increased by 47 %.   

Supervisory Board meetings and more 
important resolutions
The Supervisory Board worked with the 
same structure throughout the year: Andrej 
Kocič MBA, President; Borut Eržen, PhD, Vice 
President; and members Mateja Perger and 
Boštjan Kramberger. The members, usually 
all were present, met in 14 meetings; two of 
these were correspondence meetings. We 
dedicated a lot of attention to the areas of in-
ternal auditing, risk management and actuari-
al services, in accordance with the orientation 
of the Triglav Group towards standardisation 

of internal processes within the group, thus 
increasing the efficiency of operations of all 
its parts.
 
In the Supervisory Board meetings we adopt-
ed the following resolutions: 

l	 we appointed Gojko Kavčič the Pres-
ident of the Management Board for the period 
of five years;

l	 we examined the Annual Report on 
internal audit and confirmed it with a positive 
opinion;

l	 we examined the Successfulness 
Coefficient Calculation Criteria for the annual 
Management Board award and confirmed 
them;

l	 we examined the audited Annual Re-
port of Triglav Re d.d., Reinsurance Company, 
for the business year 2006, and confirmed it;

l	 we examined the Report by the au-
thorised actuary, dated 31 December 2006, 
and the opinion of the authorised actuary on 
the audited Annual Report of the Triglav Re 
d.d., Reinsurance Company for the business 
year 2006;  

l	 we confirmed the report of the Su-
pervisory Board on the result of audit of the 
Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d., Reinsurance 
Company for the business year 2006, and the 
proposal for the allocation of balance profit;

l	 we examined the proposal of Plan of 
Operations of Triglav Re, d.d., Reinsurance 
Company for the business year 2007 and ap-
pointed the Management Board to amend it 
within the framework of adopted guidelines, 
and confirmed it at the next meeting;
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 2007 2006

GDP (billion Euro) 33,5 30,5

GDP per capita 16,616 15,160

GDP per capita (PPS) 22,300 20,700

GDP annual growth (%) 6.1 5.7

Export growth (% in real terms) 13.0 12.3

Import growth (% in real terms) 14.1 12.2

Inflation rate (%) 5.6 2.8

Unemployment rate (% - ILO) 4,9 6.0

1. General Economic 
Environment 
In the supportive international environment, 
the strong economic growth from 2006 
(5.7%) accelerated to 6.1% in 2007 and was 
the highest since Slovenia gained indepen-
dence. GDP at current prices amounted to EUR 
33,542 million (10.2 percent more than in 
2006) or EUR 16,616 per capita (9.6 percent 
more than in 2006). In addition to strong eco-
nomic fundamentals, the economic growth was 
supported by the effects of adopted reforms, 
particularly in the field of taxation. Exports of 
goods and services and high investment activ-
ity were the main drivers of economic growth. 
Looking at specific activities, the main con-
tributors to growth were manufacturing and 
construction; the favourable trends in both ac-
tivities also had a positive effect on the growth 
of certain market services. 

Slovenia’s economy flourished in the run-up 
to the adoption of the Euro. According to the 
Eurostat’s November 2007 calculations, Slo-
venia has achieved 88.5 percent of the EU 27 
average GDP per capita in purchasing power 
parity, and is thus ranked in the first half among 
the EU 27 as regards this standard measure.  

As in previous years, Slovenia’s most impor-
tant trading partners come from EU countries 
accounting for 71% of total exports and 78% 
of all imports. Exports of goods also increased 
in these markets, mainly thanks to strong 
sales to the traditional trading countries such 
as Germany, Italy, France, Austria and Great 
Britain.

Exports of goods and services remained the 
most important factor for the GDP growth for 
the fourth year in a row. In 2007, it increased 
by 13.0 percent which contributed 8.8 per-
centage points to the GDP growth. In the first 
three quarters the exports growth was very 
high but in the fourth there was much more 
modest increase. The same holds true for 
almost all other GDP categories.  Imports in-
creased slightly more than exports (14.1 per-
cent in 2007 compared to 2006). 

During the whole of 2007, favourable eco-
nomic conditions also had a positive effect on 
employment growth. According to the national 
accounts estimate, the total employment in 
2007 amounted to 959,600 persons or 2.7 
percent more than in 2006, the highest after 
1991. 	 For the first time after 2001 employ-
ment increased also in the manufacturing 
sector (0.7 percent). 

Favourable economic indicators were distort-
ed by inflation. Consumer prices in Slovenia 
increased by 5.6% in 2007 which is double 
the growth if compared to the year before. 
Acceleration in domestic inflation was largely 
caused by faster growth in the prices of food 
and liquid fuels for transport and heating, and 
partly by the rounding up of prices upon the 
euro changeover at the beginning of 2007.

Main Economic Indicators for Slovenia
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2. Slovene Insurance 
and Reinsurance 
Market in 2007

The Slovene insurance market is in the pro-
cess of consolidation and privatisation. On 
the other hand, after the entry into the Euro-
pean Union, a number of insurance compa-
nies from EU member countries, which have 
established their subsidiaries or offer insur-
ance services and products on a direct basis, 
has considerably increased. As a result, com-
petition between insurance companies is get-
ting fiercer. Beside Wiener Staedtische and 
Victoria-Volksbanken who already operate in 
Slovenia as a branch office of an insurance 
company registered in other EU countries, it 
was unveiled that Allianz Hungary will open 
its branch office in Slovenia as well. Despite 
increased presence of foreign companies, 
their combined market share remains rela-
tively small, 7.5 percent in 2007.

At the end of the year 2007, there were 15 
insurance companies and 2 reinsurance com-
panies registered in the Republic of Slovenia. 
Among 15 insurance companies performing 
direct insurance operations there are 9 com-
posite companies, the others are specialized 
in either life, health or non-life insurance. 

In 2007, all insurance companies head-
quartered in Slovenia together with Victo-
ria-Volksbanken branch office collected EUR 
1,768.7 million of gross premium written, 
an increase of 9.5 percent if compared to 
2006. In non-life, the gross premium written 
amounted to EUR 1,284.8 million (growth in-
dex of 108) and in life insurance EUR 483.8 
million (growth index of 114). 

Following the strategy of becoming the big-
gest provider of insurance services in South- 
Eastern Europe, Triglav Insurance Company 
acquired Vardar Insurance Company in 
2007, the market leader in Macedonia, and 
Krajina Kopaonik Insurance Company in Bos-
nia and Herzegovina. Thus, Triglav completed 
its presence in all the countries of former Yu-
goslavia.

Triglav Insurance Company retained its lead-
ing position in the Slovenian insurance mar-
ket with a 40 percent market share. Triglav 
Insurance Company leads the market in both 
non-life and life insurance with a 37.5 per-
cent and a 46.5 percent market share, re-
spectively.

The combined market share of Triglav Insur-
ance Company and Triglav Health Insurance 
Company was 42.9%.

The reinsurance market growth was in line 
with the growth of the direct insurance mar-
ket. Reinsurance gross premium written 
amounted to EUR 206.1 million in 2007, 
which represents an increase of 14.1 per-
cent compared to the year 2006. Triglav Re’s 
market share remained 42.5 percent.  
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3. Business
Review
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                Western Europe 46,0%

              Northern Europe 15,2%

                                     Asia 13,0% 

      Middle East and Turkey 12,3%

           Central & Eastern Europe 7,2% 

                     
                              Southeastern Europe  6,3%

Business Report Business Review

Premium Structure by Origin

A major part of the premium in 2007 origi-
nated from our parent company. Cessions 
from Triglav Insurance Slovenia represented 
62.5 percent of the gross premium written 
in 2007, a decrease of 7 percentage points 
compared to the previous year. Business re-
ceived from Triglav’s subsidiary companies 
in Croatia, the Czech Republic and Bosnia & 
Herzegovina provided a further 13.2 percent 
and the remaining 24.3 percent came from 
our acceptances outside the Triglav Group.
 

The depiction of premium by origin changes 
considerably when observing our net account. 
In 2007, non-group acceptances accounted 
for 39.3 percent of net premium written and 
the Triglav Group business accounted for 
60.7 percent. Comparison with the figures 
from a year before shows further shift in the 
structure in favour of non-group business. 
The trend of non-group portfolio growth is 
in line with Triglav Re’s long term strategy of 
increasing business originating from outside 
the group, while continuing to serve the rein-
surance needs of our parent company and its 
affiliated companies.

 Gross Premium Written Net Premium Written

Group business Non group business Group business Non group business

2006 81,1% 18,9% 64,4% 35,6%

2007 75,7% 24,3% 60,7% 39,3%

Premium Structure by Territory

Due to the above, Slovenia remained our 
key market in 2007. Business coming from 
Slovenian cedents (which beside Triglav in-
cludes also minor cessions from other insur-
ance and reinsurance companies) accounted 
for 64.1 percent of our gross premium writ-
ten. Other important European markets of 
Triglav Re in 2007 were the countries of 
former Yugoslavia, Austria, Spain, Germany, 

Scandinavian countries and some markets 
in Central & Eastern Europe. From non-Eu-
ropean business it is worth mentioning our 
increased presence in Asian markets, espe-
cially the markets of South Korea, India and 
Hong Kong. As part of our initiative for growth 
outside the Triglav Group, we entered into a 
few new markets outside the EU, e.g. Israel, 
Turkey, United Arab Emirates and China.

Premium Structure by Origin

Premium

Gross premium written in the 2007 financial 
year amounted to EUR 87.6 million. This rep-
resents an increase of 14.2 percent in com-
parison to the year before. The main reason 
for the increase is a strong growth in premi-
um received from cedents outside the Triglav 
Group (Non- Group Business), while the busi-
ness ceded from our parent company, Triglav 
Insurance Slovenia, remained stable.

The impact on the growth of non-group busi-
ness on net premium was even stronger due 
to the fact that non-group business is almost 
completely retained net. Net premium written 
rose by 27 percent compared to the previous 
year and amounted to EUR 50.3 million. The 
retention rate in 2007 amounted to 57.4 per-
cent which represented an increase of 5.8 
percentage points if compared to the 2006 
year.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
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49.433.955 60.976.495 59.707.309 69.273.339 76.715.594 87.625.291

15.224.236 20.639.890 25.177.240 31.295.827 39.579.151 50.317.442

Gross Premium 

Net Premium 

Gross and Net Premium Written in the period 2002-2007 (in EUR)

Non Group Gross Premium Written by region in 2007
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Class 2007 in EUR 2006 in EUR Share in 2007 Index 2007/2006

Accident 1.643.970 1.508.193 3,27% 109

Health 49.662 31.505 0,10% 158

Land vehicles 10.101.071 6.580.733 20,07% 153

Railway rolling stock 3.819 5.308 0,01% 72

Aircraft 231.645 128.230 0,46% 181

Ships 381.992 454.991 0,76% 84

Goods in transit 515.798 543.100 1,03% 95

Fire and natural forces 9.783.179 7.506.873 19,44% 130

Other damage to property 9.356.525 7.339.299 18,59% 127

Motor vehicle liability 15.035.637 12.826.074 29,88% 117

Aircraft liability 87.523 86.639 0,17% 101

Liability for ships 70.200 74.505 0,14% 94

General liability 1.111.353 1.007.017 2,21% 110

Credit 1.111.339 971.965 2,21% 114

Suretyship 94.392 49.381 0,19% 191

Miscellaneous financial loss 515.897 355.401 1,03% 145

Legal expenses 47.839 31.282 0,10% 153

Assistance 172.935 75.930 0,34% 228

Life 2.667 2.723 0,01% 98

TOTAL 50.317.442 39.579.150 100,0% 127

Breakdown of Net Premium Written by Class 

Losses

The overall claims situation for Triglav Re 
in the 2007 year was less favourable than 
the year before. Gross losses paid in 2007 
amounted to EUR 44.8 million, which repre-
sents an increase of 46 percent compared to 
the year before. Further, net losses paid in-
creased by even more, i.e. 50 percent.

The biggest impact on the gross losses paid 
figure was heavy rain and flood in Slovenia 
that took place in September 2007. Up to 
300mm of rain fell in just a few hours across 
the country, with swollen rivers, torrential 
streams and landslides sweeping away cars, 
houses, bridges and sections of roads. The 
final estimated loss for Triglav Re is EUR 9.5 

million. Though, the impact of the loss on the 
net loss result is limited in accordance with 
the outward reinsurance programme. 

The most important event on the non-group 
portfolio loss side in the 2007 year was the 
winter storm Kyrill that hit Europe in February 
and will result in estimated loss of approxi-
mately EUR 2,1 million, mainly related to busi-
ness written in Germany and Austria. Beside 
the Kyrill loss we should mention losses due 
to heavy rain in the United Kingdom (June and 
July), fire at Hirviset Oy in Finland (June), hail 
in South Korea (June) and a typhoon in South 
Korea (August). 

Premium Structure by Class

In 2007, the strongest business segment of 
Triglav Re remained Property. Property lines 
of business accounted for 52.1 percent of 
gross premium written (a slight decrease 
from the year before) and are followed by Mo-
tor and Casualty with 36.5 percent and 4.6 

percent respectively. The largest growth was 
recorded within Motor and Property lines of 
business with 22 percent and 12 percent 
respectively followed by Casualty with 10 
percent increase. On the other hand the seg-
ment of Marine & Aviation shows a 7 percent 
decrease in comparison to the 2006 year.

Breakdown of Gross Premium Written by Class 

Class 2007 in EUR 2006 in EUR Share in 2007 Index 2007/2006

Accident 1.859.896 1.713.600 2,12% 109

Health 49.662 31.505 0,06% 158

Land vehicles 14.343.219 9.586.616 16,37% 150

Railway rolling stock 651.459 724.670 0,74% 90

Aircraft 964.926 637.829 1,10% 151

Ships 408.835 477.032 0,47% 86

Goods in transit 1.136.234 1.304.996 1,30% 87

Fire and natural forces 27.643.929 25.276.236 31,55% 109

Other damage to property 15.474.746 13.193.605 17,66% 117

Motor vehicle liability 17.668.561 16.734.305 20,16% 106

Aircraft liability 789.314 1.146.376 0,90% 69

Liability for ships 99.303 86.490 0,11% 115

General liability 2.140.632 1.953.351 2,44% 110

Credit 1.665.763 1.474.191 1,90% 113

Suretyship 356.753 508.861 0,41% 70

Miscellaneous financial loss 1.852.871 1.457.899 2,11% 127

Legal expenses 47.839 31.282 0,05% 153

Assistance 291.877 211.202 0,33% 138

Life 179.472 165.550 0,20% 108

TOTAL 87.625.291 76.715.594 100,0% 114

The growth engine in 2007 were Motor ve-
hicle classes of insurance, which expanded 
their premium volume by a substantial 30 
percent in comparison to the year before and 
retained their dominant position in the struc-
ture of our net premium written, accounting 
for exactly 50 percent of the total figure. 
Property remains the second most impor-
tant business segment on the net side and 

accounted for 39.1 percent of total retained 
premium. Compared to the structure of gross 
premium, the share of Marine & Aviation in to-
tal is considerably less important on the net 
side, due to the fact that the bulk of this busi-
ness is retroceded. The volume of Marine & 
Aviation remained on the same level as a year 
before.
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Technical Provisions

Net provisions for unearned premium in-
creased by 12.4 percent in comparison to the 
previous year. The growth of net provisions 
for outstanding losses & IBNR was, on the 
other hand, more significant in 2007. These 
provisions increased by 20.7 percent. Equal-
ization provisions (as at 31 December 2007 
the figure stands at EUR 812.364) are ac-
cording to IFRS part of Reserves in Capital, 

therefore are excluded from net technical pro-
visions. Provisions for bonuses and rebates 
were established exclusively in credit insur-
ance and on the basis of information reported 
by the cedants. Other technical provisions 
(Unexpired risk reserve) amounted to EUR 
133.433. As at 31 December 2007 total 
net technical provisions increased by 18,7 
percent compared to the applied IFRS 2006 
year.

2007 in EUR 2006* in EUR Index 

2007/2006*

Net provisions for unearned premium 11.021.696 9.808.268 112

Net provisions for outstanding losses & IBNR 29.241.456 24.227.211 121

Provisions for Bonuses and Rebates 11.086 3.088 359

Other Technical Provisions 133.433 0 0

     - Provisions for Unexpired Risks 133.433 0 0

TOTAL 40.407.672 34.038.567 119

Capital Adequacy 

Capital Adequacy

The capital adequacy figures were calculat-
ed in accordance with Slovenian insurance 

regulation. At the end of 2007, the minimum 
capital requirement stood at EUR 9.8 million 
whereas the insurance undertaking’s capital 
of Triglav Re amounted to EUR 26.5 million.

EUR 2007 EUR 2006

Insurance undertaking’s Capital 26.548.703 16.550.196

Minimum capital Requirements 9.824.398 8.761.254

Surplus 16.724.305 7.788.942

Class 2007 in EUR 2006 in EUR Share in 2007 Index 2007/2006

Accident 748.579 734.463 1,67% 102

Health 40.251 25.358 0,09% 159

Land vehicles 8.378.309 5.526.326 18,69% 152

Railway rolling stock 0 0 0,00% 0

Aircraft 206.528 30.577 0,46% 675

Ships 96.304 87.977 0,21% 109

Goods in transit 283.912 173.735 0,63% 163

Fire and natural forces 13.998.059 9.810.090 31,22% 143

Other damage to property 10.967.737 5.765.462 24,46% 190

Motor vehicle liability 7.329.775 6.668.718 16,35% 110

Aircraft liability 33.039 33.211 0,07% 99

Liability for ships 20.367 11.061 0,05% 184

General liability 808.374 760.497 1,80% 106

Credit 429.910 565.756 0,96% 76

Suretyship 23.232 -2.851 0,05% -815

Miscellaneous financial loss 1.163.867 323.575 2,60% 360

Legal expenses 1.269 120 0,00% 1.062

Assistance 179.202 65.636 0,40% 273

Life 124.815 72.909 0,28% 171

TOTAL 44.833.529 30.652.620 100,0% 146

Breakdown of Gross Losses Paid by Class

Class 2007 in EUR 2006 in EUR Share in 2007 Index 2007/2006

Accident 685.893 668.400 2,44% 103

Health 40.251 25.358 0,14% 159

Land vehicles 6.745.042 3.973.142 23,96% 170

Railway rolling stock 0 0 0,00% 0

Aircraft 133.643 30.577 0,47% 437

Ships 96.304 97.683 0,34% 99

Goods in transit 259.224 186.616 0,92% 139

Fire and natural forces 7.013.409 3.935.916 24,91% 178

Other damage to property 4.971.374 3.633.809 17,66% 137

Motor vehicle liability 6.645.127 4.949.372 23,60% 134

Aircraft liability 18.907 23.137 0,07% 82

Liability for ships 20.367 12.695 0,07% 160

General liability 719.701 648.334 2,56% 111

Credit 225.512 406.659 0,80% 55

Suretyship 7.555 1.652 0,03% 457

Miscellaneous financial loss 440.235 162.961 1,56% 270

Legal expenses 1.264 117 0,00% 1.084

Assistance 130.421 19.408 0,46% 672

Life 1.072 129 0,00% 833

TOTAL 28.155.302 18.775.965 100,0% 150

Breakdown of Net Losses Paid by Class

Business Report Business Review
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cent, which is a deterioration compared to 
61.2 percent in the 2006 year. Among the 
more important classes, the most profitable 
were Motor Vehicle Third Party Liability with 
the loss ratio of 58.2 percent, Other Property 
with 63.6 percent (both loss ratios distinctly 
higher as in 2006) and Fire with the loss ratio 
of 75.9 percent (a deterioration compared to 
a year before by 10 percentage points). 

In 2007, a general deterioration of loss result 
was recorded compared to the year before. 
One reason lies in increased competition in 
the Slovenian insurance market and price re-

ductions in international markets. However, 
the net result of most important line of busi-
ness i.e. Motor Vehicle Third Party Liability, 
has a very satisfactory loss result of 58.2 
percent. With the introduction of the new road 
traffic safety law introduced in 2008, we ex-
pect  this line of business to be positive also 
in the future despite stronger competition in 
the direct market. 

Despite the significantly heavier claims bur-
den from natural catastrophes we posted a 
combined ratio of 91.9 percent.

Class Loss Ratio 2007 Loss Ratio 2006

Accident 48,6% 45,8%

Health 159,2% 10,1%

Land vehicles 76,3% 66,4%

Railway rolling stock 0,0% 0,0%

Aircraft 73,6% 31,8%

Ships 58,1% 45,4%

Goods in transit 76,8% 29,9%

Fire and natural forces 75,9% 65,9%

Other damage to property 63,6% 61,9%

Motor vehicle liability 58,2% 52,8%

Aircraft liability 72,1% 34,9%

Liability for ships 29,0% 32,4%

General liability 106,9% 150,2%

Credit 42,2% 52,6%

Suretyship 37,5% -5,1%

Miscellaneous financial loss 112,8% 86,5%

Legal expenses 12,6% 5,0%

Assistance 56,9% 105,0%

Life 68,2% 9,0%

TOTAL 67,5% 61,2%

Loss Ratio by Class  

Marketing

We write our reinsurance business either in 
direct collaboration with the primary insurers 
and regional reinsurers or via brokers. The 
latter is especially true for markets outside 
our home region. 

In the year under review, the company has 
implemented client focused organisation. 
Each client manager is dealing with individual 
territories with the aim to intensify business 

relations with insurance and reinsurance 
companies there. In order to further diversify 
Triglav Re’s portfolio we put extra care to se-
lective territories that promise healthy under-
writing results. After 2008 renewals we can 
see that this proactive approach has already 
brought some results. Beside increased en-
gagement in foreign markets our important 
role is to support Triglav Group’s acquisitions 
with the expected level of service and knowl-
edge. 

Reinsurance

Triglav Re arranges reinsurance protection 
for the Triglav Group, and also acts as a pro-
fessional reinsurer for companies outside the 
group. The group premium represents 75.7 
percent of the total gross premium. 

The level of retrocession in 2007 shows 
a decrease to 42.6 percent from 48.4 per-

cent in the last year, which results from the 
increase in non-group acceptances as well as 
increased retention level of group business. 
Since the premium earned outside the Triglav 
Group is mainly retained net, it has strong im-
pact to retention. The retention ratio in 2007 
is 57.4 percent, but it varies considerably in 
different classes, mainly depending on types 
of risks ceded to us from the Triglav Group.

Class Gross 
Premium 

Written in EUR

Net Premium 
Written in EUR

Retention Ratio

Accident 1.859.896 1.643.970 88,39%

Health 49.662 49.662 100,00%

Land vehicles 14.343.219 10.101.071 70,42%

Railway rolling stock 651.459 3.819 0,59%

Aircraft 964.926 231.645 24,01%

Ships 408.835 381.992 93,43%

Goods in transit 1.136.234 515.798 45,40%

Fire and natural forces 27.643.929 9.783.179 35,39%

Other damage to property 15.474.746 9.356.525 60,46%

Motor vehicle liability 17.668.561 15.035.637 85,10%

Aircraft liability 789.314 87.523 11,09%

Liability for ships 99.303 70.200 70,69%

General liability 2.140.632 1.111.353 51,92%

Credit 1.665.763 1.111.339 66,72%

Suretyship 356.753 94.392 26,46%

Miscellaneous financial loss 1.852.871 515.897 27,84%

Legal expenses 47.839 47.839 100,00%

Assistance 291.877 172.935 59,25%

NON-LIFE INSURANCE TOTAL 87.445.819 50.314.775 57,54%

Life 179.472 2.667 1,49%

NON-LIFE AND LIFE INSURANCE TOTAL 87.625.291 50.317.442 57,42%

Retention Ratio by Class in 2007

Due to the before mentioned retrocession lev-
els, we place particularly strong emphasis on 
the financial strength of our retrocessionaires, 
especially in respect of long-tail business. As 
far as markets are concerned we work with 
many continental reinsurers, the London mar-
ket and also, but to a limited extent, with the 
Bermudan market.

Underwriting Result

Due to intensive loss pattern, the 2007 un-
derwriting result of our company was not as 
satisfactory as last year but still within the 
range of our target underwriting result. The 
overall loss ratio (measured by net incurred 
losses to net earned premium) was 67.5 per-

Business Report Business Review



30 31

Financial Result

In year 2007 Triglav Re net premium earned 
amounted to EUR 49.1 million (index of 127 
compared to 2006). Net earned claims totaled 
EUR 33.2 million (index of 140 compared to 
2006), that is EUR 10.5 million more than in 
business year 2006. Operating expenses re-
mained at the same level as previous years, i.e. 
under 2.5% of gross premium written.

Despite unfavorable loss occurrence, Triglav 
Re made profit before tax in amount of EUR 6.1 
million (index of 70 compared to 2006, when 
gross profit totaled EUR 8.5 million adjusted to 
IFRS – profit before tax in Income statement 
2006 was EUR 6.6 million). Profit after tax for 
the business year 2007 equaled EUR 4.2 mil-
lion (index of 59 compared to 2006). The de-
terioration of financial results in the business 

year 2007 compared to the year before can be 
assigned to some major catastrophic losses in 
the year 2007, which led to unfavorable net 
earned loss result. 

As at 31 December, 2007, balance sheet 
profit totaled EUR 21.7 million and also includ-
ed net profit brought forward from previous 
years of EUR 12.2 million,  equalization provi-
sions and nuclear risk reserve, which Triglav 
Re formed in previous years, but accordingly 
to new IFRS standards they are not acknowl-
edged anymore.

Net reinsurance commission in the business 
year 2007 amounted to EUR 9.8 million (com-
pared to EUR 7.0 million in the business year 
2006), and the growth can be assigned to ex-
panding Triglav Re’s business on international 
reinsurance markets.

Financial Position

International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) which entered into force on 1 January, 
2007, substituted Slovene Accounting Stan-
dards “SRS(2006)”. Due to changes which 
are the consequences of new IFRS, the data 
for year 2006 are disclosed in two columns of 
the balance sheet. The first column contains 
the data according to IFRS (The data as at 31 
December, 2006), and in the second column 
according to SRS 2006 (The data as at 31 
December, 2006). To enable useful compari-
sons in the continuation, all growth indices are 
based on the relationship between 31 Decem-
ber, 2007, IFRS and 31 December, 2006, 
IFRS.

The balance sheet total assets as at 31 De-
cember, 2007, equalled EUR 128 million and 
compared to 2006 it increased by 22%. This 
indicates the improved financial situation of 
Triglav Re in 2007.

As at 31 December, 2007, total capital stood 
at EUR 33.8 million, meaning that it increased 
by 18 percent in comparison to 2006. In total 
assets in 2007, the share of capital rose to 
26,4 percent.

Gross technical provisions (without equaliza-
tion reserve for credit risk in total amount of 
EUR 812 thousand), as at 31 December, 2007, 
amounted to EUR 60.2 million, which repre-
sented an increase of 27 percent compared to 
the year before. Net technical provisions as at 
31 December, 2007, totaled EUR 40.4 million 
(index of 119 compared to 2006).

2007 2006

Capital in total liabilities 26,4% 27,3%

Available capital as a % of minimum capital 270,2% 188,9%

Net premium written as a % of average capital 161,1% 160,4%

Return on equity 13,4% 20,1%

Net technical provisions as a % of total liabilities 31,6% 32,5%

Net technical provisions as a % of net premium 80,3% 86,0%

Investment as a % of total assets 57,4% 58,7%

Ratio between investments and net technical provisions 181,8% 180,8%

Financial Position Indicators

2007 2006

Loss Ratio 67,5% 61,2%

Share of operating expenses in gross premium 2,5% 2,3%

Share of operating expenses in net premium 4,3% 4,5%

Share of net commission in net premium 19,4% 17,6%

Gross premium written per employee (in ‘000 EUR) 3.392 3.153

Return on investment per average total investment 3,6% 4,6%

Financial Result Indicators
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Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Note 2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Gross premiums written 1.19 87,625 76,716

Written premiums ceded to reinsurers 1.19 -37,308    -37,136

Net premiums written 50,317 39,580

Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums 1.19    -1,424       -1,575

Reinsurers’ share of change in the provision for unearned premiums 1.19 212          687

Net earned premiums 49,105 38,692

Fee and commission income 1.20 6,773 7,316

Financial income 1.21 3,487 3,116

Other operating income 1.21 6 11

Net income 10,266 10,443

Gross claims incurred   1.25 -44,834     -30,653           

Reinsurers’ share of claims incurred 1.25 16,678 11,877

Change in the gross provision for claims outstanding 1.25  -11,329 -5,839

Reinsurers’ share of change in the provision for claims outstanding 1.25 6,315 954

Net claims and benefits incurred -33,170    - 23,661

Acquisition costs 1.26 -818 -638

Administrative expenses 1.27 -1,243 -1,053

Other operating expenses 1.22 -16,824 -14,561

Change in other technical provisions -141 95

Financial expenses 1.23 -1,076 -608

Profit before income tax 6,099 8,710

Income tax expense 1.24 -1,921 -1,671

Profit for the period 4,178 7,039

Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share in EUR 279 468

Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2007

Note 2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Assets

Property and equipment 1.10 72 68

Intangible assets 1.11 152 140

Available-for-sale financial assets 1.12 64,698 52,878

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1.12 3,183 3,031

Loans and receivables 1.12 5,561 5,637

Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract provisions 1.13 19,817 13,292

Insurance and other receivables 1.15 34,442 29,752

Cash and cash equivalents 57 5

Total assets 127,982 104,803

Liabilities

Insurance contract provisions 1.16 60,224 47,330

Provisions for jubilee benefits and termination benefits 81 81

Insurance and other payables 1.17 31,249 25,450

Deferred tax liability 1.14 2,253 2,782

Current income tax liability 361 516

Total liabilities 94,168 76,159

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 1.18 3,130 3,130

Fair value reserve 1.18 5,909 4,623

Capital surplus 1.18 1,147 1,147

Revenue reserve 1.18 1,952 1,819

Retained earnings 1.18 21,676 17,925

Total equity 33,814 28,644

Total liabilities and equity 127,982 104,803

Business Report Financial Statement of Triglav Re
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Insurance premiums received 87,625 76,716

Reinsurance premiums paid -37,307 -37,136

Fees and commissions received 6,773 7,316

Interest received 2,365 2,198

Dividends received 122 88

Claims and benefits paid    -44,834 -30,653

Claims recoveries received 16,678 11,877

Payments to employees -896 -750

Other operating costs -302 -256

Other operating cash flows -26,542 -16,996

Dividends paid -758 -413

Net acquisition/disposal of operating assets 

- Equities 2,260 -1,408

- Debt securities 5,892 -2,501

- Units in investment funds 2,994 -166

- Deposits and loans 333 4,075

Income taxes paid -1,894 -1,681

Net cash from operating activities 12,509 10,310

Cash flow from investing activities

Increase in investments -12,445 -10,243

Acquisition of property and equipment -61 -8

Acquisition of intangible assets -68 -55

Net cash from investing activities -12,574 -10,306

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 51 4

Cash and cash equivalents – opening balance 5 1

Cash and cash equivalents  - closing balance 56 5

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Share 
capital

Fair value 
reserve

Capital 
surplus

Revenue 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Balance at 1 January 2006 3,130 2,201 1,147 1,702 12,522 20,702

Change in fair value reserve 0 2,422 0 0 0 2,422

Profit for 2006 0 0 0 0 7,039 7,039

Appropriation to revenue reserve 0 0 0 117 0 117

Dividend payout 0 0 0 0 -413 -413

Other decrease in equity components by deferred taxes 0 0 0 0 -1,224 -1,224

Balance at 31 December 2006 3,130 4,623 1,147 1,819 17,924 28,643

Balance at 1 January 2007 3,130 4,623 1,147 1,819 17,924 28,643

Change in fair value reserve 0 3,722 0 0 0 3,722

Profit for 2007 0 0 0 0 4,045 4,045

Appropriation to revenue reserve 0 0 0 133 0 133

Other increase in equity components - revaluation 0 0 0 0 694 694

Dividend payout 0 0 0 0 -758 -758

Other decrease in equity components - revaluation 0 -2,436 0 0 -229 -2,665

Balance at 31 December 2007 3,130 5,909 1,147 1,952 21,676 33,814

Business Report Financial Statement of Triglav Re
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(e)	 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are trans-
lated to euro at exchange rates of the Bank 
of Slovenia, which are announced on the 
web site of NLB, effective at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the re-
porting date are translated to euro at the ex-
change rate at that date. The foreign currency 
gain or loss on monetary items is the differ-
ence between amortised cost in the func-
tional currency at the beginning of the period, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments 
during the period, and the amortised cost in 
foreign currency translated at the exchange 
rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair value are 
translated to euro at the exchange rate at the 
date that the fair value was determined. For-
eign currency differences arising on transla-
tion are recognised in profit or loss or in equi-
ty depending on the classification of separate 
non-monetary asset.   

The most significant foreign currency in which 
the Company holds its assets and liabilities is 
USD. The exchange rates used for translation 
at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 
2006 were USD 1 = EUR 0.6806 (2006: 
USD 1 = EUR 0.7592).

Adjustments to the new or amended 
standards with effect from 1 January 2008 
A number of new standards, amendments 
to standards and interpretations are not yet 
effective for the year ended 31 December 
2007, and have not been applied in prepar-
ing these financial statements:

l	 IFRS 8 Operating Segments intro-
duces “management approach” to segment 
reporting. IFRS 8, which becomes manda-
tory for the Company’s 2009 financial state-
ments, will require the disclosure of segment 
information based on the internal reports 
regularly reviewed by the Company’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker in order to assess 
each segment’s performance and to allocate 
resources to them. 

l	 Revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs re-
moves the option to expense borrowing costs 
and requires that an entity capitalise borrow-
ings costs directly attributable to the acquisi-
tion, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset as part of the cost of that asset. The re-
vised IAS 23 will become mandatory for the 

Company’s 2009 financial statements and 
will constitute a change in accounting policy 
for the Company. 

l	 IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Group and Treasury 
Share Transactions requires a share-based 
payment arrangement in which the Company 
receives goods or services as consideration 
for its own equity instruments to be account-
ed for as an equity-settled share-based pay-
ment transaction, regardless of how the eq-
uity instruments are obtained. IFRIC 11 will 
become mandatory for the Company’s 2008 
financial statements, with rectroactive appli-
cation required. 

l	 IFRIC 12 Service Concession Ar-
rangements provides guidance on certain 
recognition and measurement issues that 
arise in accounting for public-to-private ser-
vice concession arrangements.  

l	 IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Pro-
grammes addresses accounting by entities 
that operate, or otherwise participate in, cus-
tomer loyalty programmes for their custom-
ers. It relates to customer loyalty programmes 
under which the customer can redeem credits 
for awards such as free or discounted goods 
or services.  

l	 IFRIC 14 IAS 19 The Limit on a 
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction clarifies 
when refunds or reductions in future contri-
butions in relation to defined benefit assets 
should be regarded as available and provides 
guidance on the impact of minimum funding 
requirements (MFR) on such assets. It also 
addresses when an MFR might give rise to a 
liability.  

1.3	 Significant accounting 		
	 policies 

(a)	 Property and equipment

Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are mea-
sured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 

Subsequent costs	
The cost of replacing part of an item of prop-
erty and equipment is recognised in the carry-
ing amount of the item if it is probable that the 

1.1	 Reporting entity

Triglav Re, Reinsurance company, Ltd. (the 
“Company”) is a joint stock company incorpo-
rated and domiciled in Ljubljana, Miklošičeva 
19. The Company is a reinsurance company 
reinsuring non-life and life (only death risk) in-
surance in compliance with the provisions of 
the Insurance Act.   

The Company’s major shareholder (87% of 
voting rights) and ultimate parent company 
is Triglav Insurance Company, Ltd., which is 
domiciled in Ljubljana, Miklošičeva 19, Slo-
venija.

Triglav Re is a member company of the Tri-
glav Group. The consolidated annual report 
for the Triglav Group is prepared in the reg-
istered office of Triglav Insurance Company. 
The consolidated annual report is available 
for inspection in the registered office of Tri-
glav Insurance Company. 

1.2	  Basis of preparation 

(a)	 Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Company 
is the first time adopter of IFRS and, accord-
ingly, IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of IFRS” 
has been applied. The effect of this fact is de-
scribed in note 1.4.

The 2007 financial statements were autho-
rised for issue by the Management Board on 
25 April 2008.

(b)	 Functional and presentation 		
	 currency
The financial statements are presented in 
euro, which is the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the Company 
operates, i.e. Republic of Slovenia. The tran-
sition from Tolar to Euro became effective in 
Slovenia as of 1 January 2007. As at 1 Janu-
ary 2007, the conversion rate was set at EUR 
1 = SIT 239.64. In the financial statements, 
the amounts are rounded to the nearest thou-
sand.   

(c)	 Basis of measurement 
The financial statements are prepared on the 
historical cost basis and adequately adjusted 
for measurement of financial assets (except 
those classified as held-to-maturity) at fair 
value.  

(d)	 Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with IFRSs requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assump-
tions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and reported amounts of assets, lia-
bilities, income and expenses. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other fac-
tors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, and information available 
at the date of preparation of the financial 
statements, the results of which form the ba-
sis of making the judgments about carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources.   Such 
estimates may change the profit or loss. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and 
any future periods affected.

The estimates and judgements are mostly 
used in the measurement of technical provi-
sions. Discussed in note 1.5.

Business Report Notes to the financial statements
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interest rates, foreign exchange rates, or eq-
uity prices. Available-for-sale financial assets 
include debt securities and equity securities.

Recognition and derecognition
Purchases and sales of financial assets and li-
abilities at fair value through profit or loss, held-
to-maturity investments and available-for-sale 
financial assets are recognised on the trade 
date which is the date when the Company com-
mits to purchase or sell the instrument. Loans 
and receivables and financial liabilities at am-
ortised cost are recognised when advanced to 
borrowers or received from lenders. 

The Company derecognises financial assets 
(in full or part) when the contractual rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial instru-
ment have expired or when it loses control 
over the contractual rights on those financial 
assets. This occurs when the Company trans-
fers substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to another business entity or when 
the rights are realised, surrendered or have ex-
pired. The Company derecognises financial li-
abilities only when the financial liability ceases 
to exist, i.e. when it is discharged, cancelled or 
has expired. If the terms of a financial liability 
change, the Company will cease recognising 
that liability and will instantaneously recognise 
a new financial liability, with new terms and 
conditions.

Initial and subsequent measurement
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
initially at their fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset or financial liability not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of the financial asset or financial liabil-
ity. 

After initial recognition, the Company measures 
financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss and available for sale at their fair value, 
without any deduction for selling costs. Equity 
instruments classified as available for sale that 
do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured are stated at cost less impairment.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity 
investments are measured at amortised cost 
less impairment losses.  

Gains and losses
Gains and losses arising from a change in 
the fair value of financial assets or financial li-

abilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised in the income statement.
Gains and losses from a change in the fair 
value of available-for-sale assets are recog-
nised directly in a fair value reserve within 
equity and are disclosed in the statement of 
changes in equity. Impairment losses, foreign 
exchange gains and losses, interest income 
and amortisation of premium or discount us-
ing the effective interest method, on available-
for-sale monetary assets are recognised in 
the income statement. 

Dividend income is recognised in the income 
statement. Upon sale or other derecognition 
of available-for-sale assets, any cumulative 
gains or losses are transferred to the income 
statement.

Gains and losses on financial instruments car-
ried at amortised cost may also arise, and are 
recognised in the income statement, when a 
financial instrument is derecognised or when 
its value is impaired.

Fair value measurement principles
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss and financial 
assets available for sale is their quoted bid 
market price at the balance sheet date without 
any deductions for selling costs.   If the mar-
ket for a financial asset is not active (and for 
unlisted securities), or if, for any other reason, 
the fair value cannot be reliably measured by 
market price, the Company establishes fair 
value by using valuation techniques. These 
include the use of prices achieved in recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to other 
instruments that are substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis, and option 
pricing models, making maximum use of mar-
ket inputs and relying as little as possible on 
entity-specific inputs.

The fair value of non-exchange-traded de-
rivatives is estimated at the amount that the 
Company would receive or pay to terminate 
the contract at the balance sheet date taking 
into account current market conditions and 
the current creditworthiness of the counter-
parties.

Impairment of financial assets
At each balance sheet date the Company as-
sesses whether there is objective evidence 
that financial assets not carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are impaired. Financial 
assets are impaired when objective evidence 

future economic benefits embodied within the 
part will flow to the Company and its cost can 
be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-
day servicing of property and equipment are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each part of an item of property and 
equipment. Leased assets are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and their 
useful lives. Land is not depreciated.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:
	 	 	 	
	 2007	 2006
Equipment	 4  years	 4  years
Fixtures, fittings 
and motor vehicles	 8  years	 8  years

Residual values are not taken into account.
Depreciation methods and useful lives are 
reassessed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount, 
and are included in the income statement.

(b)	 Intangible assets 
Intangible assets that are acquired by the 
Company, which have finite useful lives, are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisa-
tion and accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only 
when it increases the future economic ben-
efits embodied in the specific asset to which 
it relates. All other expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss when incurred.

Amortisation	
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of intangible assets, from the date that 
they are available for use. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
	 	 	 	 	
	 2007	    2006
Software	 5 years	 5 years

Residual values are not taken into account.
The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and ad-
justed if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined 

by comparing proceeds with carrying amount, 
and are included in the income statement.

(c)	 Financial instruments

Classification and recognition
The Company classifies its financial instru-
ments in the following categories: financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 
available-for-sale financial assets, and other 
financial liabilities. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets 
and liabilities were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of financial as-
sets and financial liabilities at initial recogni-
tion. 

(d)	 Financial assets and financial 		
	 liabilities at fair value 			 
	 through profit or loss 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are financial assets 
which are classified as held for trading or on 
initial recognition designated by the Company 
as at fair value through profit or loss.  Deriva-
tives are classified as held for trading.

As stated above this category has two sub-
categories: financial instruments held for 
trading, and those designated by manage-
ment as at fair value through profit or loss at 
inception. Trading assets and liabilities are 
those assets and liabilities that the Company 
acquires or incurs principally for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or 
holds as a part of a portfolio that is managed 
together for short-term profit or position tak-
ing.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.   Loans and receivables arise when 
the Company provides money to a debtor with 
no intention of trading with the receivable, 
and include loans to customers and deposits 
with banks.

Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. Financial assets designated as 
available for sale are intended to be held for 
an indefinite period of time, but may be sold in 
response to needs for liquidity or changes in 
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average salaries of an employee in the Com-
pany or two average salaries in the Republic 
of Slovenia, whichever is higher.  

l	 The amount of jubilee benefits is in 
compliance with the internal regulations of 
the Company. 

l	 The discount rate is 4.1%.

(j) 	 Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and 
deferred tax. Income tax expense is recog-
nised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised directly in eq-
uity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the re-
porting date, and any adjustment to tax pay-
able in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance 
sheet method, providing for temporary dif-
ferences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to be applied to 
the temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on laws that have been enacted or sub-
stantively enacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the ex-
tent that it is probable that future taxable prof-
its will be available against which temporary 
difference can be utilised.   Deferred tax as-
sets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not dis-
counted and are classified as non-current.

(k) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a 
past event, the Company has a present legal 
or constructive obligation that can be estimat-
ed reliably, and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market as-
sessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.  

(l) Equity

Share capital
Share capital comprises no par value shares. 
The shares are ordinary shares and give the 
holder the voting right and, based on the reso-
lution of the shareholders’ meeting, the right 
to dividends. The Company does not record 
any subscribed shares not paid-in.    

Reserves
The Company presents capitals surplus. 
Upon transition to SAS 2006, general capi-
tal revaluation adjustment and other capital 
paid in under the Articles of Association were 
transferred to capital surplus. 

Revenue reserves comprise legal reserve 
and other revenue reserves, which are set 
up in accordance with the resolution of the 
Management Board and the resolution of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting and strengthen, on a 
long-term basis, the capital adequacy of the 
Company.  These are: 
Statutory reserves which represent accumu-
lated appropriations from retained earnings 
in accordance with the Articles of Association 
and the Companies Act (ZGD-1).

Legal and statutory reserves may be used:
l	 to cover net loss for the period if it 
cannot be covered by charging it against re-
tained earnings or other revenue reserves; 
l	 to cover retained loss if it cannot be 
covered by charging it against net profit for 
the period or other revenue reserves. 

In compliance with IFRS, the Company does 
not set up equalisation provision. In accor-
dance with the Insurance Act, the Company 
is liable to make provision for credit risks and 
catastrophe losses. To comply with the statu-
tory requirements, the Company records this 
provision as revenue reserve under credit 
risk equalisation reserve, and set it up based 
on the appropriation of net profit in compli-
ance with the resolution of the Management 
Board.   

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve represents unrealised 
net gains and losses arising from a change 
in the fair value of available-for-sale financial 
assets, net of deferred tax. 

Retained earnings
Any profit for the year retained after appropri-
ations to reserves remains unappropriated.

demonstrates that a loss event has occurred af-
ter the initial recognition of the asset, and that 
the loss event has an impact on the future cash 
flows on the asset that can be estimated reli-
ably.

The Company considers evidence of impairment 
at both a specific asset and collective level. All 
individually significant financial assets are indi-
vidually assessed for impairment.  All individu-
ally significant assets which are not assessed 
as impaired are then collectively assessed for 
any impairment that has been incurred but not 
yet identified at the balance sheet date. 

In assessing collective impairment the Compa-
ny uses statistical modelling of historical trends 
of the probability of default, timing of recoveries 
and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for 
management’s judgement as to whether cur-
rent economic and credit conditions are such 
that the actual losses are likely to be greater or 
less than suggested by historical modelling. De-
fault rates, loss rates and the expected timing 
of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked 
against actual outcomes to ensure that they re-
main appropriate.

Impairment losses on assets carried at amor-
tised cost are measured as the difference be-
tween the carrying amount of the financial as-
sets and the present value of estimated cash 
flows discounted at the assets’ original effective 
interest rates. Losses are recognised in profit 
or loss and reflected in an allowance account 
against loans and advances. Interest income on 
the impaired asset continues to be recognised 
through the unwinding of the discount.

When a subsequent event causes the amount 
of impairment loss to decrease, the impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Debt securities
Debt securities are classified as financial as-
sets at fair value through profit or loss, held to 
maturity, or available for sale, depending on the 
purpose for which the debt security was ac-
quired.

(f) 	 Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are stated at their 
amortised cost less impairment losses.

(g) 	 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recog-
nised at fair value and then subsequently at am-
ortised cost.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net 
basis only when permitted by the accounting 
standards, or for gains and losses arising 
from a group of similar transactions.

(h) 	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in 
hand and at bank balances.  

(i)  	 Employee benefits	
Employee benefits are all forms of compen-
sation that are provided to the employees in 
return for their contribution to the Company.   

Employee benefits include:
1)	 Short-term employee benefits, which 
are payable within 12 months after the end of 
the period of the employee’s service, such as 
wages, salaries and social security contribu-
tions, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, 
bonuses and non-monetary benefits (such as 
medical care and cars). 

2)	 Other employee benefits, such as ju-
bilee benefits and termination benefits upon 
retirement. The calculation of liabilities to 
employees arising from jubilee benefits and 
termination benefits upon retirement is based 
on the actuarial calculations using the follow-
ing assumptions: 

l	 The development of mortality or 
survivorship will be in accordance with av-
erage life expectancy set out in the Mortality 
Tables.  

l	 The retirement age and pensionable 
employment of men and women are in agree-
ment with Articles 36, 52, and 396.a of the 
Pension and Disability Insurance Act. 
l	 The average salary of an individual.

l	 The growth of salaries in the follow-
ing years is estimated at an average of 4.7 % 
per annum. 

l	 The amount of termination benefit 
upon retirement is either equal to three av-
erage salaries of the employee or, in compli-
ance with the law, equal to the amount of two 
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ance risk is risk other than financial risk.  Fi-
nancial risk   is the risk of a possible future 
change in one or more of a specified interest 
rate, security price, commodity price, foreign 
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, a 
credit rating or credit index or other variable, 
provided in the case of a non-financial vari-
able that the variable is not specific to a party 
to the contract. Reinsurance contracts may 
also transfer some financial risk.

Contracts with discretionary participation 
features  
No such contracts are disclosed by the Com-
pany. 

(r) 	 Unearned premium provision 
The provision for unearned premiums com-
prises the proportion of gross premiums writ-
ten in the reinsurance period after the end 
of the financial year under review. Unearned 
premium is computed using pro-rata tem-
poris method or fraction method adjusted if 
necessary to reflect any variation in the inci-
dence of risk during the period covered by the 
contract.    

(s) 	 Unexpired risk provision 
Provision for unexpired risks is made on the 
basis and in compliance with Article 6 of the 
Decision on Detailed Rules and Minimum 
Standards to be applied in the calculation of 
technical provisions (Official Gazette of RS, 
No. 3/2001). The provision is defined as 
the difference between the actual amount 
required to cover unexpired risks and the 
unearned premiums. The provision for unex-
pired risks is made for those classes of busi-
ness in which the average combined ratio 
in the last three years (current year and two 
previous years) exceeded 100%. The unex-
pired risk provision was additionally made at 
31 December 2007 (in 2006 it amounted to 
0 EUR) because the average combined ratio 
in the last three years exceeded 100% in cer-
tain classes of business.  

(t) 	 Non-life insurance provision  
The technical provisions comprise unearned 
premium provision, provision for incurred and 
reported claims, provision for incurred but 
not reported claims (IBNR provision), provi-
sion for bonuses, rebates and cancellations, 
and provision for unexpired risks. Gross un-
earned premiums were set on the basis of 
notifications made by cedents. 

Unearned premium provision was made for 

retrocession business and for retrocedents 
that failed to present the statement of ac-
count of unearned premium, in compliance 
with the Company’s rules and regulations and 
by use of the fraction method. The provisions 
for incurred but not reported claims (IBNR 
provision) and for incurred but not enough re-
ported claims (IBNER provision) were made 
on the basis of notifications made by cedents. 
A part of provisions was made on the basis of 
the Company’s calculations. A projection was 
prepared using the triangle method for cumu-
lative ultimately settled active, passive and 
net claims by class of business, or by group of 
classes of business when the volume of pre-
miums or claims is too small. When prepar-
ing the triangles with data on claims settled, 
by contract year, for the projection of future 
payments of claims incurred, extremely high 
claims paid in the years 2000 to 2007 were 
eliminated. 

To supplement the underdeveloped years, 
the Company supplemented the chain ladder 
method used in the previous year with the 
Bornhueter-Ferguson method at the level of 
separate class of business or separate group 
of classes of business. The IBNR claims thus 
computed by class of business or by group of 
classes of insurance were compared with the 
IBNR claims computed on the basis of data 
submitted by cedents. As the final result for 
the class of business or the group of classes 
of insurance, the higher result was consid-
ered.    

The provision for bonuses and rebates was 
made on the basis of the notification present-
ed by the cedent, with whom a contract on ex-
port credit reinsurance was concluded. 

(u) 	 Equalisation provision
Pursuant to Article 54 of the Companies Act, 
insurance companies shall prepare their fi-
nancial statements in compliance with In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by European Union. Pursuant to 
Article 155 of the Insurance Act, insurance 
companies shall observe the provisions of the 
Companies Act when accounting. Pursuant to 
Article 133 of the Companies Act, technical 
provisions also include equalisation provi-
sions. The provisions defined under Article 
113 and Article 118 of the Insurance Act are 
in contradiction with the requirements of In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by European Union. In compliance 
with International Financial Reporting Stan-

(m) 	 Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Company’s as-
sets, financial assets (see accounting policy 
1.3.(d)) and deferred tax assets (see account-
ing policy 1.14) are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment.  

If any such indication exists, the asset’s re-
coverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carry-
ing amount of an asset exceeds its recover-
able amount.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assess-
ing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their net present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects cur-
rent market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount.  
An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.  

(n) 	 Revenue 
Other reinsurance revenue (expenses) is an 
item of the income statement in which rein-
surance commission income and reinsurance 
commission expenses are recorded. 

Premiums
Gross written reinsurance premiums from 
cessions or retrocessions assumed in the 
observed period are reinsurance premiums 
written in the observed period on the basis 
of reinsurance contracts concluded with ce-
dents and retrocedants. Retroceded portion of 
gross written reinsurance premiums from as-
sumed cessions or retrocessions is ceded for 
reinsurance in accordance with the retroces-
sion contracts concluded with the Company’s 
retrocessionaires. Net written reinsurance 
premium from cessions or retrocessions as-
sumed in the reporting period is the amount 

of gross written reinsurance premium from 
assumed cessions or retrocession less the 
amount of gross written reinsurance pre-
mium of assumed cessions or retrocessions 
ceded for retrocession of assumed cessions 
or retrocessions.   

Investment income
Interest income is recognised in the income 
statement as it accrues. Dividend income is 
recognised in the income statement on the 
date that the dividend is declared. The ac-
counting policy in relation to financial income 
recognition is disclosed in note 1.3 (d) under 
”Gains and losses”.

(o) 	 Expenses

Operating expenses
Operating expenses consists of policy acqui-
sition costs and administration costs, other 
operating expenses and financial expenses.

Expenses are recorded by type when in-
curred. In the financial statements, expenses 
are classified by functional group. These are: 
appraisal costs, asset management costs, 
policy acquisition costs, and other operating 
costs. Due to the manner of claims handling 
in the Company, no costs arise in connection 
with the assessment of the entitlement to the 
amount of claim therefore they are not clas-
sified under the functional group of appraisal 
costs. A portion of costs by type may be di-
rectly classified to a functional group, while 
other costs are classified to a functional group 
on the key basis. The key represents the con-
sumption of working time by employees for a 
separate function and accordingly allocated 
costs of wages and salaries of the respec-
tive employees. Based on such a structure 
of wages and salaries, other operating costs 
are allocated to a functional group.        

Operating expenses include only that part of 
costs which are, following the above men-
tioned classification, allocated to policy acqui-
sition costs and other operating costs. 

(p) 	 Classification of contracts
Contracts under which the Company or a 
reinsurer accepts a part or the whole of re-
insurance risk from another party (cedent or 
retrocedent) by agreeing to compensate the 
cedent or retrocedent if a specified uncertain 
future event (the insured event) adversely af-
fects the policyholder or other beneficiary are 
classified as reinsurance contracts. Reinsur-

Business Report Notes to the financial statements



52 53

1.4	 First time adoption of 
	 IFRS

Explanation of transition to IFRS
As stated in note 1.2, these are the Compa-
ny’s first financial statements prepared in ac-
cordance with IFRS.

The Company previously prepared its finan-
cial statements in accordance with Slovenian 
Accounting Standards 2006. The main dif-
ference between IFRS and the previous ac-
counting framework relates to the previous 
presentation of equalisation provisions or 
credit risk equalisation reserves. Under SAS 
2006, these provisions were recorded under 
technical provisions. Under IFRS, these provi-
sions are recorded as credit insurance equal-
isation reserves under equity as explained in 
item 1.18 hereof.   Other differences are only 
presentational and comprise various reclas-
sifications as well as additional disclosures.

The accounting policies set out in note 1.3 
have been applied in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 
2007, the comparative information present-
ed in these financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2006 and in the prepa-
ration of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 
January 2006 (the Company’s date of transi-
tion to IFRS).

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet, 
the Company has adjusted amounts reported 
previously in financial statements prepared 
in accordance with the previous basis of ac-
counting. An explanation of how the transition 
from the previous basis of accounting to IFRS 
has affected the Company’s financial posi-
tion, financial performance and cash flows is 
set out in the following tables and the notes 
that accompany the tables.

dards as adopted by European Union, the 
Company presents equalisation provisions 
under reserves in the item of equity.    

Life assurance provision
The life assurance provision is not made by 
the Company because the classes of busi-
ness classified in items 20 to 24 under Arti-
cle 2 of the Insurance Act are not recorded by 
the Company in its portfolio. The Company’s 
life assurance portfolio includes only the type 
of life assurance classified in item 19 under 
paragraph 2, Article 2 of the Insurance Act. 
Pure endowment risk, however, is not rein-
sured. Only death risk, critical illness risk and 
supplementary accident insurance are rein-
sured. For this reason, only unearned premi-
um provision and claims provision for death 
risk, critical illness risk and supplementary 
accident insurance are made. 

(v) 	 Claims
Claims arising from non-life business 
Net claims incurred consist of gross claims 
(reinsurance proceeds) less retrocedents’ 
shares (reinsurers’ shares) and changes in 
gross claims provisions adjusted by the retro-
cedents’ share in the change in gross claims 
provisions.  

(w) 	 Reinsurance
Amounts recoverable under reinsurance con-
tracts are assessed for impairment at each 
balance sheet date. Such assets are deemed 
impaired if there is objective evidence, as a 
result of an event that occurred after its ini-
tial recognition, that the Company may not re-
cover all amounts due and that the event has 
a reliably measurable impact on the amounts 
that the Company will receive from the rein-
surer.

The Company cedes reinsurance in the normal 
course of business for the purpose of limiting 
its net loss potential through the diversifica-
tion of its risks. Reinsurance arrangements do 
not relieve the Company from its direct obliga-
tions to its cedents and retrocedents.

Ceded premiums and claims are presented in 
the income statement and balance sheet on a 
gross basis.

Only contracts that give rise to a significant 
transfer of insurance risk are accounted for 
as insurance contracts. Amounts recoverable 
under such contracts are recognised in the 
same year as the related claim. 

Reinsurance assets include balances due 
from reinsurance companies for ceded in-
surance liabilities. Premiums on reinsurance 
assumed are recognised as revenue and ac-
counted as if the reinsurance were consid-
ered direct business, taking into account the 
product classification of the reinsured busi-
ness. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 
are estimated in a manner consistent with the 
outstanding claims provision or settled claims 
associated with the reinsured policy.  Reinsur-
ance assets comprise the actual or estimated 
amounts, which, under contractual reinsur-
ance arrangements, are recoverable from 
reinsurers in respect of technical provisions.  
Reinsurance assets relating to technical pro-
visions are established based on the terms of 
reinsurance contracts and valued on the same 
basis as the related reinsured liabilities. The 
Company records an allowance for estimated 
irrecoverable reinsurance assets, if any.

The cost of reinsurance related to life assur-
ance contracts is accounted for over the life 
of the underlying insurance policies using as-
sumptions consistent with those used to ac-
count for the underlying policies.

Reinsurance commissions and profit 
participations
Reinsurance commissions and profit par-
ticipations include commissions received or 
receivable from reinsurers and profit partici-
pations based on reinsurance contracts.  Non-
life reinsurance commissions are deferred in 
a manner consistent with the deferral of ac-
quisition costs in non-life insurance. 

(z) Liabilities and related assets under 
liability adequacy test
Reinsurance contracts are tested for liability 
adequacy. Where a shortfall is identified, an 
additional provision is made and the Com-
pany recognises the deficiency in the income 
statement.

The assumptions of the liability adequacy test 
and the test itself are described in detail in 
note 1.7.
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Due to the transition to IFRS, equalisation 
provision and nuclear risk provision were re-
versed as from 1 January 2006. They were 
transferred to retained earnings and deferred 
tax liability was accounted for. 

Because a new securities valuation software 
programme was implemented, the calculation 
of the effective interest rate was more ac-
curate, which resulted in retained profit. The 
movement is reflected under Other decrease 
in equity components and valuation of invest-
ments in 2007. 

The movement in fair value reserve includes 
increase and decrease as a result of securi-

ties valuation in 2006 and 2007. Revenue 
reserve increased in 2006 and 2007 by the 
amount of credit risk equalisation provision. 

In 2006 and 2007, changes were due to val-
uation on the asset side under IFRS. Under 
SAS, interest income from investments was 
recorded under deferred costs and accrued 
revenue. Under IFRS, however, interest in-
come was recorded under investments.  

The cash flow statement under SAS does not 
show significant differences compared to the 
cash flow statement under IFRS 

Explanation of Transition to IFRS

Old 
accounting 
framework

IFRS Old 
accounting 
framework

IFRS IFRS

1.1. 06 1.1.06 31.12.06 31.12.06 31.12.07

Note EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Assets

Property and equipment a) 83 83 68 68 72

Intangible assets b) 141 141 140 140 151

Available-for-sale financial 
assets

c) 41,948 42,881 51,782 52,878 64,698

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

d) - - 3,031 3,031 3,183

Loans and receivables d) 5,052 5,052 5,637 5,637 5,561

Reinsurers’ share of 
insurance contract provisions

k) 11,650 11,650 13,291 13,291 19,817

Deferred tax asset 26 26 36 36 17

Insurance and other 
receivables

f) 19,708 18,775 30,802 29,716 34,426

Cash and cash equivalents h) 1 1 5 5 57

Total assets 78,609 78,609 104,792 104,802 127,982

Liabilities

Insurance contract provisions k) 44,745 40,071 54,082 47,330 60,306

Insurance and other payables 
and deferred income

g) 17,102 17,162 26,046 26,046 31,609

Deferred tax liability 734 733 1,447 2,783 2,253

Total liabilities 62,581 57,907 81,575 76,159 94,168

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital l) 3,130 3,130 3,130 3,130 3,130

Fair value reserve l) 2,201 2,201 4,843 4,623 5,909

Statutory reserve l) 2,286 2,848 2,286 2,965 3,099

Retained earnings 8,411 12,523 12,958 17,925 21,676

Total equity 16,028 20,702 23,217 28,643 33,814

Total liabilities and equity 78,609 78,609 104,792 104,802 127,982
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1.5	 Accounting estimates 
	 and judgements

These disclosures supplement the commen-
tary on financial risk management (note 1.30) 
and insurance risk management (note 1.29). 

The Company makes estimates and assump-
tions concerning the future.  The resulting ac-
counting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. The estimates 
and judgements that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below.

1.5.1	Key sources of 
	 estimation uncertainty

Allowances for credit losses
The specific counterparty component of the 
total allowances for impairment applies to 
claims evaluated individually for impairment 
and is based upon management’s best esti-
mate of the present value of the cash flows 
that are expected to be received. In estimat-
ing these cash flows, management makes 
judgements about a counterparty’s financial 
situation and the net realisable value of any 
underlying collateral. Each impaired asset 
is assessed on its merits, and the workout 
strategy and estimate of cash flows consid-
ered recoverable are independently approved 
by the Credit Risk function. 

Determining fair value
The determination of fair value for financial 
assets and liabilities for which there is no 
observable market price requires the use of 
valuation techniques as described in account-
ing policy 1.3 (d). For financial instruments 
that trade infrequently and have little price 
transparency, fair value is less objective, and 
requires varying degrees of judgement de-
pending on liquidity, concentration, uncertain-
ty of market factors, pricing assumptions and 
other risks affecting the specific instrument.

Estimation of uncertainty in relation to 
reserving
The most significant estimates in relation to 
the Company’s financial statements relate to 
reserving. The Company takes a reasonably 
prudent approach to reserving and applies In-
surance Regulator regulations. The Company 
employs a certified actuary.  

The Company’s policy is to make provision for 
unexpired risks arising from non-life insur-
ance business in those classes of business 
in which the average combined ratio in the 
last three year (current year and two previous 
years) exceeded 100%.  

Management believes that the current level of 
technical reserves is sufficient.  

Insurance risk management is discussed in 
detail in note 1.29, whilst reinsurance con-
tract provisions are analysed in note 
1.16.

Tax
The Company provides for tax liabilities in ac-
cordance with the tax laws of the Republic of 
Slovenia.  Tax returns are subject to the ap-
proval of the tax authorities who are entitled 
to carry out subsequent inspections of tax-
payers’ records. 

1.5.2	Critical accounting 
	 judgements 	in applying 
	 the Company’s 
	 accounting policies

Critical accounting judgements made in ap-
plying the Company’s accounting policies in-
clude:

Financial asset and liability classification
The Company’s accounting policies provide 
scope for assets and liabilities to be desig-
nated on inception into different accounting 
categories in certain circumstances. In clas-
sifying financial assets or liabilities as “trad-
ing”, the Company has determined that it 
meets the description of trading assets and 
liabilities set out in accounting policy 1.3 (d). 
In designating financial assets or liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss, the Company 
has determined that it has met one of the cri-
teria for this designation set out in accounting 
policy 1.3 (d).

Useful economic life of equipment and intan-
gible assets 
The Company continues to use certain equip-
ment and intangible assets which have been 
fully depreciated. Amortisation/depreciation 
rates were initially determined in accordance 
with the best estimate of the useful life of this 
equipment and intangible assets.

Reconciliation of the profit for 2006

Former 
Slovene Acc. 

Standards

Effect of transition 
to IFRS

IFRS

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Gross premiums written 76,716 - 76,716

Written premiums ceded to reinsurers -37,136 - -37,136

Net premiums written 39,580 - 39,580

Change in the gross provision for unearned 

premiums

-1,575 - -1,575

Reinsurers’ share of change in the provision for 

unearned premiums

687 - 687

Net earned premiums -888 - -888

Fee and commission income 7,316 - 7,316

Financial income 3,116 - 3,116

Other operating income 9 2 11

Net income 10,441 - 10,443

Claims and benefits incurred -30,653 - -30,653

Reinsurers’ share of claims and benefits 

incurred

11,877 - 11,877

Change in the gross provision for claims -7,821 2,078 -5,743

Reinsurers’ share of change in the provision for 

claims

954 - 954

Net policyholder claims and benefits incurred -25,643 2,078 -23,565

Acquisition costs -638 - -638

Administrative expenses -1,053 - -1,053

Other operating expenses -14,559 - -14,559

Net expenses -16,250 - -16,250

Operating profit 7,240 2,080 9,320

Financial expenses -610 - -610

Profit before income tax 6,630 2,080 8,710

Income tax 1,671 - 1,671

Profit for the period 4,959 2,080 7,039

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in EUR) 331 - 468
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December 2007, net unearned premium pro-
visions amounted to EUR 133,433. For the 
Company, the liability adequacy test is the 
calculation of unexpired risk provisions, be-
cause the deficit is recognised as an increase 
in liabilities (provisions) in the profit or loss 
for the current period. IFRS 4.16 does not 
specify that the test shall be performed on net 
liabilities therefore a liability adequacy test 
for unearned premium provisions based on 
gross items has been carried out to provide 
for an additional control or comparison. The 
calculation shows that the adequate amount 
of provisions would be EUR 311. The ac-
tual unexpired risk provisions at 31 Decem-
ber 2007 are made in an adequate amount, 
therefore the calculation based on net items, 
which gives a higher amount, has been taken 
into account in the balance sheet.  

The test of adequacy of life assurance provi-
sion was implemented within the Company’s 
non-life insurance. It was found that there 
was no need for setting up additional life as-
surance provisions.  

1.8	 The sensitivity of
	 present value of future
	 profits to changes in 
	 significant variables  

In non-life the insurance variables which 
would have the greatest impact on insurance 
liabilities relate to motor third party liability 
(MTPL) court claims. Court claims related li-
abilities are sensitive to legal, judicial, politi-
cal, economic and social trends. Management 
believes it is not practical to quantify the sen-
sitivity of non-life provisions to changes in 
these variables. 

1.9	 Reinsurance contracts 
	 that have a material 
	 effect on uncertainty of 
	 future cash flows 

Non-life insurance 
The Company offers all types of non-life re-
insurance: motor, property, liability, marine, 
aviation, transport, and accident reinsurance. 
Contracts may be concluded for a fixed term 
of one year or on a continuous basis with 
either party having the option to cancel at 3 
months’ notice. The Company is therefore 
able to re-price the risk under a contract at 
intervals of not more than one year. Reinsur-
ance claims are the main source of uncertain-

ty which influences the amount and the timing 
of future cash flows. The amount of particular 
claim payments is limited by limit of coverage 
which is defined in the reinsurance contract.  
A special attention is paid to motor reinsur-
ance and liability reinsurance as described 
below: 

Motor reinsurance
The Company motor reinsurance portfolio 
comprises both motor third party liability re-
insurance and motor hull reinsurance. Motor 
third party liability reinsurance covers bodily 
injury claims and property claims in the ce-
dent’s country (i.e. domestic claims) as well 
as claims caused abroad by insured party 
(Green Card system).  

Property damage (e.g. on a vehicle) is gener-
ally reported and settled within a short period 
of the accident occurring. Reporting and pay-
ments relating to bodily injury claims, how-
ever, take longer to finalise and are more dif-
ficult to estimate. Such claims may be settled 
in the form of a lump-sum settlement or an 
annuity. 

Liability reinsurance
Liability reinsurance covers all types of li-
ability insurance: general and product liability 
insurance, liability insurance of members of 
the Management Board and members of the 
Supervisory Board, and professional liability 
insurance.  

Life assurance
None of the classes of business set out un-
der Items 20 through 24, Paragraph 2, Ar-
ticle 2 of the Insurance Act is recorded in the 
Company’s portfolio. Only life assurance set 
out under Item 19, Paragraph 2, Article 2 of 
the Insurance Act is recorded in the life as-
surance portfolio. Pure endowment risk is not 
reinsured. Only death risk, critical illness risk 
and supplementary accident insurance are 
reinsured.  

Management believes this is appropriate as 
the use of these assets will be soon discon-
tinued. 

1.6	 Principal assumptions
	 that have the greatest 
	 effect on recognised 
	 reinsurance assets, 
	 liabilities, income and 
	 expenses

Provision is made at the balance sheet date 
for claims reported but not settled. In addition, 
provisions were made for claims incurred but 
not reported (IBNR provisions).   

The liability for reported claims (RBNS provi-
sions) is reported on a separate case-by-case 
basis with due regard to the claim circum-
stances, based on the statement of account.  
Case reserves are monitored regularly and are 
updated as and when new information arises.  

The estimation of claims incurred but not re-
ported (IBNR provisions) is generally subject 
to a greater degree of uncertainty than re-
ported claims. IBNR provisions, computation 
and estimation of claims incurred but not re-
ported were reviewed and assessed by the 
Company’s certified actuary using statistical 
techniques such as a blend of the chain ladder 
method and Bornhuetter-Ferguson method.  

The blend of methods uses settled claims 
development information and assumes that 
the historical claims development pattern will 
occur again in the future. There are reasons 
why this may not be the case, which, insofar 
as they can be identified, have been allowed 
for by deducting major settled claims, aris-
ing from catastrophe or irregular events and 
not expected to recur from year to year, from 
settled claims taken into account as they  de-
veloped. 

The assumption which has the greatest effect 
on the measurement of non-life reinsurance li-
abilities is: 

Expected claims ratio 
The expected claims ratio represents the 
ratio of expected claims incurred to reinsur-
ance premiums earned. The assumptions in 
respect of expected claims ratios for the most 
recent accident year, per class of business, 
have the most influence on the level of IBNR 
provisions. 

Because the risks requiring setting-up math-
ematical provisions have not yet been under-
written for reinsurance, any information relat-
ing to life assurance is stated together with 
the information on non-life insurance. 

1.7	 Liability adequacy test 
	 - LAT

The Company makes provisions for unexpired 
risk, thus complying among other things with 
the criteria of the liability adequacy test (LAT). 
The liability adequacy test has been carried 
out in compliance with Directive No. 1 of the 
Council of Experts of the Slovenian Associa-
tion of Actuaries, which is recommendable 
and helpful in the course of implementing IFRS 
4, as well as in association with all substan-
tive and technical issues arising in connec-
tion with the implementation of the respective 
standard. For non-life insurance, the liabilities 
are subject to a liability adequacy test only for 
unearned premium provisions, while the pro-
visions for claims outstanding and the provi-
sions for bonuses and rebates are deemed to 
be made in the adequate amount, therefore 
the application of the liability adequacy test 
is not needed. Equalisation provisions are 
used as a buffer in adverse cases and are not 
a liability under the reinsurance contracts in 
force in compliance with IFRS 4. Unexpired 
risk provisions are made on the basis of the 
liability adequacy test for unearned premium 
liability, since additional provisions are higher 
than unearned premium provisions by the 
amount set aside with respect to risks to be 
borne after the end of the accounting period 
and to provide for all claims and expenses 
in connection with reinsurance contracts in 
force.  

The liability adequacy test for unearned pre-
mium provisions is undertaken to determine 
the difference between the sum of expected 
claims and the expected expense, i.e. in our 
case between the combined ratio and un-
earned premium provisions. Unexpired risk 
provisions are calculated in compliance with 
the internal Regulations on Establishing Other 
Technical Provisions. In line with these Regu-
lations, provisions are made for those classes 
of business with an average combined ratio 
in the last three years (the current period and 
the previous two periods are taken into ac-
count) exceeding 100%. The combined ratio 
consists of the claims ratio and the expense 
ratio therefore it is a relevant indicator of a 
possible inadequacy of provisioning. At 31 
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1.11	 Intangible assets

Computer 
software

Computer software 
under development

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2006 298 0 298

Additions 55 55 110

Transfer into use 0 -55 -55

Disposal 0 0 0

Balance at 31 December 2006 353 0 353

Balance at 1 January 2007 353 0 353

Additions 69 69 138

Transfer into use 0 -69 -69

Disposal 0 0 0

Balance at 31 December 2007 422 0 422

Amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2006 157 0 157

Amortisation charge for the period 56 0 56

Balance at 31 December 2006 213 0 213

Balance at 1 January 2007 213 0 213

Amortisation charge for the period 57 0 57

Disposal 0 0 0

Balance at 31 December 2007 270 0 217

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2006 141 0 141

At 31 December 2006 140 0 140

At 1 January 2007 140 0 140

At 31 December 2007 152 0 152

The amortisation charge is recognised under 
Administrative expenses in the income state-
ment.

Liabilities arising from acquired intangible as-
sets are not recorded under liabilities.

1.10	 Property and equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Equipment 
and furniture

Under con-
struction

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Cost 

Balance at 1 January 2006 96 176 0 272

Transfer into use 0 0 -25 -25

Additions 22 3 25 50

Disposals -26 0 0 -26

Balance at 31 December 2006 92 179 0 271

Balance at 1 January 2007 92 179 0 271

Transfer into use 0 0 -61 -61

Additions 40 21 61 123

Disposals -46 -5 0 -51

Balance at 31 December 2007 86 196 0 282

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2006 33 156 0 189

Depreciation charge for the period 9 15 0 24

Disposals -9 0 0 -9

Balance at 31 December 2006 33 171 0 204

Balance at 1 January 2007 33 171 0 204

Depreciation charge for the period 9 13 0 22

Disposals -11 -5 0 -16

Balance at 31 December 2007 31 179 0 210

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2006 63 20 0 83

At 31 December 2006 59 8 0 67

At 1 January 2007 59 8 0 67

At 31 December 2007 55 17 0 72

The depreciation charge is recognised under 
operating expenses in the income statement.  

Liabilities arising from acquired property and 
equipment are not recorded under liabilities.
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Available-for-
sale

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Loans and 
receivables

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

2006

Listed 5,661 - - 5,661

Unlisted 856 - - 856

Equity securities 6,517 - - 6,517

Government bonds 24,156 - - 24,156

Corporate bonds 17,527 3,031 - 20,558

Debt securities 41,683 3,031 - 44,714

Open ended 2,391 - - 2,391

Closed ended 2,287 - - 2,287

Investment funds 4,678 - - 4,678

Deposits with banks - - 5,637 5,637

Loans and receivables - - 5,637 5,637

TOTAL 2006: 52,878 3,031 5,637 61,546

2007

Listed 7,774 - - 7,774

Unlisted 1,387 - - 1,387

Equity securities 9,161 - - 9,161

Government bonds 24,433 - - 24,433

Corporate bonds 23,400 3,183 - 26,583

Debt securities 47,833 3,183 - 51,016

Open ended 3,907 - - 3,907

Closed ended 3,797 - - 3,797

Investment funds 7,704 - - 7,704

Deposits with banks - - 5,561 5,561

Loans and receivables - - 5,561 5,561

TOTAL 2007: 64,698 3,183 5,561 73,442

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss were classified into the group when 
acquired.

1.12	 Financial assets 

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Available-for-sale financial assets 64,698 52,878

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,183 3,031

Loans and receivables 5,561 5,637

73,442 61,546

Change in fair value of securities Available-
-for-sale

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Loans and 
receivables

EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR ’000

Balance at 1 January 2006 34,558 0 12,442

Increase due to acquisition 19,723 3,031 0

Increase / Decrease due to a change in fair value 2,422 0 0

Decrease due to disposal -3,825 0 -6,805

Balance at 31 December 2006 52,878 3,031 5,637

Balance at 1 January 2007 52,878 3,031 5,637

Increase due to acquisition 20,217 0 0

Increase / Decrease due to a change in fair value 1,134 152 0

152 0

Decrease due to disposal -9,531 0 -76

Balance at 31 December 2007 64,698 3,183 5,561

1.13	 Reinsurance share of insurance contracts provisions

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life

Reinsurance share in unearned premium reserve 4,656 4,446

Reinsurance share in notified outstanding claims reserves 14,315 8,239

Reinsurance share in incurred but not reported claims reserve 846 607

19,817 13,292

1.14	 Deferred tax asset and liability 

Deferred tax asset

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Tax losses

Balance at 1 January 36 26

Tax assets -19 10

Balance at 31 December 17 36

Deferred tax liability
2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Available-for-sale financial assets under fair value reserve

Balance at 1 January 2,783 733

Decrease / increase recognised in equity -530 2,050

Balance at 31 December 2,253 2,783
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1.15	 Insurance and other receivables 

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Premium receivables from assumed reinsurance 23,625 20,174

- wereof receivables due from related companies 17,010 17,392

Receivables from reinsurance

 - for claims recoveries 9,017 6,363

 - for reinsurance commission 1,749 3,113

Deferred tax assets and other receivables 51 102

34,442 29,752

1.16	 Reinsurance contract provisions

Gross provisions

2007 2006

EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000

Non-life insurance

Provision for unearned premiums 15,678 14,254

Notified outstanding claims reserve (reserve after bordereaux) 26,335 18,723

Incurred but not reported claims reserve (IBNR) 18,067 14,350

Other provisions 145 3

60,225 47,330

Net provisions

2007 2006

EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000

Non-life insurance

Provision for unearned premiums 11,022 9,808

Notified outstanding claims reserve (reserve after bordereaux) 12,123 10,484

Incurred but not reported claims reserve (IBNR) 17,118 13,743

Other provisions 145 3

40,408 34,038

a)	 Analysis of movement in unearned premium provision

2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006

Gross Retroceded Net Gross Retroceded Net

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life insurance

Balance at 1 January 14,254 4,446 9,808 12,679 3,758 8,921

Change in unearned premiums (+/-) 1,424 210 1,214 1,575 688 887

Balance at 31 December 15,678 4,656 11,022 14,254 4,446 9,808

b)	 Analysis of movement in notified outstanding claims reserve (reserve after bordereaux)

2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006

Gross Retroceded Net Gross Retroceded Net

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life insurance

Balance at 1 January 18,723 8,239 10,484 14,566 7,548 7,019

Change in unearned premiums (+/-) 7,612 5,973 1,639 4,157 691 3,465

Balance at 31 December 26,335 14,212 12,123 18,723 8,239 10,484

c)	     Analysis of movement incurred but not reported claims reserve (IBNR claims)

2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006

Gross Retroceded Net Gross Retroceded Net

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life insurance

Balance at 1 January 14,350 607 13,742 12,668 344 12,324

Change in unearned premiums (+/-) 3,717 342 3,376 1,682 263 1,418

Balance at 31 December 18,067 949 17,118 14,350 607 13,742

d)	 Life assurance provisions 
and provision arising from liability 
adequacy test

As mentioned above, life assurance provi-
sion is not made by the Company because the 
classes of business classified in items 20 to 
24 under Article 2 of the Insurance Act are 
not recorded by the Company in its portfolio. 
The Company’s life assurance portfolio in-
cludes only the type of life assurance classi-
fied in item 19 under paragraph 2, Article 2 
of the Insurance Act. Pure endowment risk, 
however, is not reinsured. Only death risk, 
critical illness risk and supplementary acci-
dent insurance are reinsured.

e)	 Development of claims 
settled  
Shown below is the development of claims 
settled because the development of claims 
reported by policyholders is not directly pre-
sented by the Company as a reinsurance 
company. Shown below is the adequacy of 
gross and net provisions for 2007 and 2006. 
Originally assessed provisions shown in the 
tables below comprise claims reserve (includ-
ing IBNR provision) and unearned premiums.
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Adequacy of gross provisions for 2007:
in 000 EUR

Class of 
business

Gross claims 
31 Dec 2006

Gross 
unearned 
premiums 31 
Dec 2006

Gross 
provisions  31 
Dec 2006

Total gross 
proceeds 
during the year 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Gross 
provisions 31 
Dec 2007 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Difference Share

1 a b 2=a+b 3 4 5=2-3-4 6=5/2

Non-life 32,999 14,253 47,252 20,403 25,462 1,386 2.9%

Life 74 1 75 79 1 -5 -6.9%

Total 33,073 14,254 47,327 20,483 25,463 1,381 2.9%

Adequacy of net provisions for 2007:
in 000 EUR

Class of 
business

Gross claims 
31 Dec 2006

Gross 
unearned 
premiums 31 
Dec 2006

Gross 
provisions  31 
Dec 2006

Total gross 
proceeds 
during the year 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Gross 
provisions 31 
Dec 2007 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Difference Share

1 a b 2=a+b 3 4 5=2-3-4 6=5/2

Non-life 24,227 9,807 34,034 16,339 14,914 2,781 8.2%

Life 0 1 1 1 1 0 -30.0%

Total 24,227 9,808 34,035 16,340 14,915 2,781 8.2%

Adequacy of gross provisions for 2006:
in 000 EUR

Class of 
business

Gross claims 
31 Dec 2006

Gross 
unearned 
premiums 31 
Dec 2006

Gross 
provisions  31 
Dec 2006

Total gross 
proceeds 
during the year 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Gross 
provisions 31 
Dec 2007 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Difference Share

1 a b 2=a+b 3 4 5=2-3-4 6=5/2

Non-life 27,159 12,677 39,836 17,263 22,013 561 1.4%

Life 75 2 77 20 0 57 73.4%

Total 27,234 12,679 39,913 17,283 22,013 617 1.6%

Adequacy of net provisions for 2006:
in 000 EUR

Class of 
business

Gross claims 
31 Dec 2006

Gross 
unearned 
premiums 31 
Dec 2006

Gross 
provisions  31 
Dec 2006

Total gross 
proceeds 
during the year 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Gross 
provisions 31 
Dec 2007 
for 2006 and 
earlier

Difference Share

1 a b 2=a+b 3 4 5=2-3-4 6=5/2

Non-life 19,342 8,919 28,261 11,990 14,388 1,883 6.7%

Life 0 2 2 0 0 1 76.3%

Total 19,343 8,921 28,263 11,990 14,389 1,884 6.7%

The table below summarizes the adequacy of 
gross and net provision for claims outstand-
ing for the last 5 years as at 31 December 
2007 in the form of a triangle (see note 1.30 

– Risk of adequacy of technical provisions for 
a more detailed discussion on the adequacy 
of gross and net provision for claims out-
standing).

Gross provision for claims outstanding + unearned premium
as at 31 december

Net provision for claims outstanding + unearned premium
as at 31 december

in EUR 000 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Originally assessed 31.663 30.994 34.253 39.913 47.327 60.080

Reassessed after 1 year 32.750 29.534 30.610 39.296 45.946

Reassessed after 2 years 30.453 26.638 28.926 38.092

Reassessed after 3 years 30.051 27.566 30.027

Reassessed after 4 years 31.202 28.458

Reassessed after 5 years 31.587

Cumulative excess 76 2.536 4.226 1.822 1.381

Cumulative gross claims paid

After 1 year 19.209 13.059 12.783 17.283 20.483

After 2 years 22.493 16.918 17.309 22.515

After 3 years 24.563 19.391 18.580

After 4 years 26.255 20.180

After 5 years 26.649

Note: The amounts are translated from tolar to euro at the rate of 1 EUR = 239.64 SIT.	

in EUR 000 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Originally assessed 15.521 19.937 22.698 28.263 34.035 40.263

Reassessed after 1 year 17.144 18.607 20.751 26.379 31.255

Reassessed after 2 years 14.252 15.542 16.788 23.133

Reassessed after 3 years 13.587 14.557 16.057

Reassessed after 4 years 13.114 14.321

Reassessed after 5 years 12.898

Cumulative excess 2.623 5.617 6.641 5.130 2.781

Cumulative net claims paid

After 1 year 8.418 8.735 9.141 11.990 16.340

After 2 years 10.278 10.662 11.371 15.998

After 3 years 10.992 11.432 11.994

After 4 years 11.244 11.770

After 5 years 11.372

Note: The amounts are translated from tolar to euro at the rate of 1 EUR = 239.64 SIT.	
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Classes of non-life insurance and life assurance:
Classes of non-life insurance include classes from 01 to 18:

01: Accident insurance
02: Health insurance
03: Land motor vehicle insurance
04: Railway rolling stock insurance
05: Aircraft insurance
06: Ships insurance
07: Goods in transit insurance
08: Fire and natural forces insurance
09: Insurance of other damage to property
10: Liability insurance for motor vehicles
11: Liability insurance for aircraft
12: Liability insurance for ships
13: General liability insurance
14: Credit insurance
15: Suretyship insurance
16: Miscellaneous financial loss insurance
17: Legal expense insurance
18: Assistance insurance

Classes of life assurance include class 19:

19: Life assurance

1.17	 Reinsurance and other payables  

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Reinsurance contract payables 30,841 25,085

- whereof payables to related companies 17,734 13,305

Provision for bonuses (dividend payout)  to employees 163 167

Liabilities for salaries 120 100

Other payables and accrued expenses 125 98

- whereof other payables to related companies 27 0

31,249 25,450

Reinsurance contract payables are of current 
nature. They include payables to insurance 
companies arising from reinsurance share in 

claims and commissions. Payables are stated 
at historical cost which equals fair value.

1.18	 Equity

Shareholders’ equity

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Share capital 3.130 3.130

Fair value reserve 5.909 4.623

Capital surplus 1.147 1.147

Revenue reserve 1.952 1.819

Retained earnings 21.676 17.925

Total 33.814 28.644

Ordinary shares

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Issued and fully paid shares

15,000 (2006: 15,000) ordinary shares of EUR 208,65 3,130 3,130

3,130 3,130

The share capital of the Company is denomi-
nated in EUR. The nominal value of each share 
issued by the Company is EUR 209. During 

2007 there were no new shares issued. All 
shares are fully paid.

The shareholders of the Company at year end are as follows:

2007 2006

% ownership % ownership

Triglav Insurance Company, Ltd 87.00 87.00

Nova Ljubljanska banka d.d. 5.00 5.00

FMR d.d., Idrija 1.33 1.33

Petrol d.d. 2.00 2.00

Kovinoplastika Lož d.d. 0.00 2.00

Maksima Holding d.d. 2.00 0.00

Sava d.d. 2.00 2.00

Helios Domžale d.d. 0.67 0.67

100.0 100.0

The anticipated dividend per share for 2007 
shall amount to EUR 90 or 4% of the equity. 

The dividend will be declared at the share-
holders’ meeting of the Company.
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Fair value reserve

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Balance at 1 January 4,623 2,201

Increase / decrease due to valuation 1,587 2,642

Increase / decrease due to disposal -301 -220

Balance at 31 December 5,909 4,623

Capital surplus

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Paid-in capital surplus 543 543

Other paid-in capital under the Articles of Association 604 604

1.147 1.147

Revenue reserve

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Legal reserve 262 262

Statutory reserve 258 258

Credit risk equalisation reserve 812 679

Other revenue reserve 620 620

1.952 1.819

In accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by European 
Union, equalisation provisions are recorded 
in the financial statements under reserves in 
the item of equity. 

If the financial statements had been prepared 
in compliance with the requirements of the 
Insurance Act, net profit or loss for 2007 
would have been lower by EUR 133 thousand 
(2006: EUR 2,080 thousand) and would 
have amounted to EUR 4,045 thousand 
(2006: EUR 4,959 thousand). The amounts 
of credit insurance equalisation reserves re-
corded under equity would not have been a 
part of equity in the financial statements pre-
pared in compliance with the requirements of 
the Insurance Act, but would have increased 
gross technical provisions. These would have 
amounted to EUR 61,037 thousand as at 

31 December 2007 (1 January 2007: EUR 
48,009 thousand) if they had included credit 
risk equalisation provision. 

Earnings per share 
For the purposes of calculating earnings per 
share, earnings are calculated as the profit 
for the period attributable to equity holders 
of the Company. Earnings per share amount 
to EUR 279 in 2007 (2006: EUR 468). The 
number of ordinary shares is the weighted av-
erage number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year after deducting the number 
of ordinary treasury shares. The number of 
ordinary shares used for basic earnings per 
share was 15,000 (2005: 15,000). Given 
that there is no effect of options, convertible 
bonds or similar effect, the diluted earnings 
per share are the same as basic earnings per 
share.

1.19	 Premiums

2007 2006

Non-life insurance EUR’000 EUR’000

Gross premium written 87,625 76,716

Thereof: 

- Premium received from insurance companies 66,327 62,236

- Premium received from reinsurance companies 21,298 14,479

Written premiums ceded to reinsurers -37,308 -37,136

Change in earned premiums, gross -1,424 -1,575

Change in earned premiums, reinsurance share 211 687

Total premium income net, earned from non-life insurance   49,104 38,691

Analysis of premiums by class of 
business 
An analysis of gross reinsurance premiums 
written and gross claims settled by class of 
business is set out below.

Gross 
premiums 

written

Gross 
premiums 

earned

Gross 
claims 

incurred

Acquisition and 
administrative 

expenses

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life insurance

Accident 1,860 1,840 863 67

Health 50 41 65 2

Land vehicles 14,343 13,755 9,103 414

Railway rolling stock 651 651 0 0

Aircraft 965 894 109 9

Ships 409 440 240 16

Goods in transit 1,136 1,168 437 21

Fire and natural forces 27,644 27,213 15,327 401

Other damage to property 15,475 15,534 12,874 383

Motor vehicle liability 17,669 17,221 10,555 616

Aircraft liability 789 840 558 4

Liability for ships 99 91 20 3

General liability 2,141 2,221 1,404 46

Credit 1,666 1,539 1,004 46

Suretyship 357 429 88 4

Miscellaneous financial loss 1,853 1,827 3,219 21

Legal expenses 48 43 5 2

Assistance 292 276 166 7

Life 179 178 125 0

                                                           

Total non-life insurance 87,625 86,201 56,163 2,061

For the year ended 31 December 2007
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Gross 
premiums 

written

Gross 
premiums 

earned

Gross 
claims 

incurred

Acquisition and 
administrative 

expenses

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life insurance

Accident 1,714 1,688 746 64

Health 32 38 4 1

Land vehicles 9,587 9,508 6,053 281

Railway rolling stock 725 725 0 0

Aircraft 638 517 149 5

Ships 477 433 177 19

Goods in transit 1305 1,286 140 23

Fire and natural forces 25,276 25,224 10,780 321

Other damage to property 13,194 12,571 5,417 314

Motor vehicle liability 16,734 16,350 9,006 548

Aircraft liability 1,146 1,196 55 4

Liability for ships 86 84 22 3

General liability 1,953 1,928 2,488 43

Credit 1,474 1,435 549 42

Suretyship 509 324 -12 2

Miscellaneous financial loss 1,458 1,451 732 15

Legal expenses 31 26 1 1

Assistance 211 193 113 3

Life 166 166 72 0

                                                           

Total non-life insurance 76,716 75,141 36,492 1,692

For the year ended 31 December 2006

1.20	 Fee and commission income (expense)   

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Commission income 6,773 7,316

Commission expense 16,553 14,301

Difference -9,780 -6,985

The operating costs in an insurance company 
are decreased by reinsurance commission. 
Due to the nature of the Company’s activity, 
i.e. the writing of active reinsurance busi-
ness, the amount of commission increases 
the Company’s operating costs. The reinsur-
ance commission income (2007: EUR 6,773 
thousand) is accounted for in connection with 
passive reinsurance business (i.e. reinsur-
ance business retroceded to other reinsur-
ance companies) and represents the Com-

pany’s income; the reinsurance commission 
expense (2007: EUR 16,553 thousand) is 
accounted for in connection with active rein-
surance business (i.e. reinsurance business 
ceded to the Company by cedents and retro-
cedants) and represents the Company’s ex-
pense. The reinsurance commission expense 
exceeds the reinsurance commission income 
and has a negative impact on the result, i.e. it 
increases the Company’s operating costs (in 
2007: EUR 9,780 thousand).

1.21	 Financial income 

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Interest income:

- Available-for-sale financial assets 2,341 1,995

- Loans and receivables 27 203

Dividend income 122 88

Other income from investments 191 204

Net realised gains from available-for-sale financial assets 806 626

3,487 3,116

Upon disposal of assets, net realised gains 
from available-for-sale assets were trans-
ferred from fair value reserve under equity 
and recognised in profit or loss in the amount 
of EUR 301 thousand.  

No unrealised gains are recorded in the in-
come statement, which would be the result of 
valuation of investments at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

1.22	 Other operating expenses

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Other net insurance expenses 91 89

Other expenses 180 170

Commission expense 16,553 14,302

16,824 14,561

1.23	 Financial expenses

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Interest expense 195 273

Net foreign exchange translation loss 330 238

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 12 0

Loss on valuation of financial assets through profit or loss 348 3

Other expenses 191 94

1,076 608

When recording loss on disposal of available-
for-sale financial assets, a portion of assets 
in the amount of EUR 94 thousand was trans-

ferred from fair value reserve in the income 
statement. 
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1.24	 Income taxes

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Current tax expense 1,902 1,681

Deferred tax expense 19 -10

Total income tax expense 1,921 1,671

Reconciliation of accounting profit for the period to income tax expense 

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Accounting profit for the period before income taxes 6,098 8,694

Income tax at 23%, or 25% for 2006 1,403 2,173

Differences:

- non-deductible expenses 28 44

- income that increases taxable base -4 -6

- tax incentives -13 -530

- change in temporary differences 487 -10

- expenses for deferred taxes arising from writedown of deferred 
tax assets previously not allowed for tax purposes 

19 0

Total income tax recognised in the income statement 1,921 1,671

In accordance with the Income Tax Act, the 
company taxation decreases by gradual re-
duction in tax rates. The effective income tax 
rate in 2007 is 23%. The income tax rate 
will be 22% in 2008, 21% in 2009, and 
20% in 2010.  Pursuant to the Income Tax 
Act, other amendments in respect of tax base 
determination have been introduced, such as 

abolition of double taxation, non-deductible 
expenses are clearly defined, losses may be 
covered in the following tax periods without 
limitation, and other. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recorded under eq-
uity in the amount of EUR 2,253 thousand. 

1.25	 Net claims and reinsurance benefits incurred   

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life insurance

Claims paid

    Gross amount 44,834 30,653

    Reinsurers’ share -16,678 -11,877

Change in notified outstanding claims reserve

    Gross amount   7,583 4,383

    Reinsurers’ share -6,076 -470

Change in incurred but not reported claims reserve

    Gross amount   3,745 1,456

    Reinsurers’ share -238 -484

Total net claims incurred from non-life insurance 33,170 23,661

1.26	 Acquisition costs

2007 2006

EUR’000 EUR’000

Non-life insurance

Acquisition costs 818 638

Total acquisition costs, non-life 818 638

1.27	 Operating costs 

Costs are classified by type and by functional 
groups. In the financial statements, costs are 
classified by functional groups. These are: ac-
quisitions costs, appraisal costs (not record-
ed by the Company due to its nature of work), 
asset management costs, and other costs. A 

portion of costs by type may be directly clas-
sified to a functional group, while other costs 
are classified to a functional group on the key 
basis. The key represents the consumption 
of working time by employees for a separate 
function. The classification is stated below as 
follows: 

Classification of costs by functional group and by type: 

in ‘000 EUR

Item Total Acquisition 
costs

Appraisal 
costs

Asset 
management 

costs

Other

Total costs in 2007 2,173 818 0 112 1,243

Depreciation of assets 
needed for operation

79 30 0 4 45

Personnel expenses 1,567 590 0 81 896

Wages and salaries 1,112 419 0 57 636

Social security costs 195 73 0 10 111

Other personnel expenses 260 98 0 13 149

Costs of services provided 
by individuals not engaged in 
business activity

42 16 0 2 24

Other operating costs 485 183 0 25 278

In 2007, the average number of employees 
was 26 (2006: 24).

Gross emoluments paid to the Management 
Board members in 2007 amounted to EUR 
370,583 (2006: EUR 301,577), including 
fixed salary and 2006 profit share. 

Gross emoluments paid to the Supervisory 
Board members in 2007 amounted to EUR 
43,479, whereof EUR 22,074 to the mem-
bers of the Management Board of Triglav In-
surance Company. 

The costs of audit services amounted in 
2007 to EUR 25 thousand (2006: EUR 23 
thousand). 
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1.28	 Related parties 

The key shareholder of the Company is Tri-
glav Insurance Company, Ltd., with the hold-
ing of 87% (2006: 87%) of the Company’s 
share capital at year end. The Company has 
an immediate related party relationship with 
the ultimate parent of its key shareholder 
and its subsidiaries; the Supervisory Board 
members, Management Board members and 
other executive management (together: key 
management personnel); entities controlled, 
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by 
key management personnel and their close 
family members, in accordance with the defi-
nitions contained in International Accounting 
Standard 24 »Related Party Disclosures« 
(IAS 24).     

The business concluded with Triglav Insur-
ance Company in 2007:

l   the major business concluded between Tri-

glav Insurance Company and the Company 
is a reinsurance contract for 2007 which in-
corporates an overall specification of the re-
insurance programme for Triglav Insurance 
Company, both in respect of proportional and 
non-proportional reinsurance of the assumed 
non-life insurance and life assurance portfo-
lios of Triglav Insurance Company;  

l   various facultative reinsurance contracts;   

l   accident insurance and pension insurance 
contracts for the Company’s employees; 

l   a property insurance contract for electronic 
equipment owned by the Company;  

l     a motor insurance contract (motor third-
party liability and motor hull insurance) for 
motor vehicles owned by the Company; 

l    a lease contract for business premises at 
Miklošičeva 19, including the lease of equip-
ment and two car parking lots. 

Specification of revenue and expenses arising from transactions with 
Triglav Insurance Company

Year 2007  ( in 000 EUR)

Earned premium income 54,788

Fee and commission expense 9,492

Incurred claims 27,839

Change in the provision for unearned premiums -741

Change in the provision for claims outstanding 6,602

Rental costs 65

Asset management costs 65

Costs of property, accident and pension insurance premiums 38

Specification of revenue and expenses arising from transactions with 
Triglav Osiguranje

Year 2007  ( in 000 EUR)

Earned premium income 1,332

Fee and commission expense 74

Incurred claims 507

Change in the provision for unearned premiums 56

Change in the provision for claims outstanding 26

The business concluded with Triglav BH Osigu-
ranje, d.d., Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina:

l     separate reinsurance contracts relating in 
particular to the cover of the insurance compa-

ny’s retention in respect of property insurance 
(CAT property treaty), and 

l   various facultative reinsurance contracts. 

Specification of revenue and expenses arising from transactions with 
Triglav BH Osiguranje

Year 2007  ( in 000 EUR)

Earned premium income 27

The business concluded with Triglav 
pojištovna, a.s., Brno, Czech Republic: 

l	 separate reinsurance contracts 
relating in particular to the cover of the 
insurance company’s retention in respect of 
property insurance (CAT property treaty).

Specification of revenue and expenses arising from transactions with 
Triglav pojištovna

Year 2007  ( in 000 EUR)

Earned premium income 10,090

Fee and commission expense 2,263

Incurred claims 3,888

Change in the provision for unearned premiums 506

Change in the provision for claims outstanding 1,872

The business concluded between the 
Company and the related entities of the 
controlling company (Triglav Insurance 
Company):

The business concluded with the 
insurance company Triglav Osiguranje, 

d.d., Rijeka, Republic of Croatia:

l   a reinsurance contract for 2007, which 
regulates the reinsurance of the insurance 
company’s portfolio, and 

l   various facultative reinsurance contracts.

The business concluded with Lovčen RE, 
Podgorica, Montenegro: 

l	 separate reinsurance contracts re-
lating in particular to the cover of the insur-
ance company’s retention in respect of prop-
erty insurance (CAT property treaty).

Specification of revenue and expenses arising from transactions with 
Lovčen RE

Year 2007  ( in 000 EUR)

Earned premium income 70

Fee and commission expense 14

The business concluded with A banka Vipa, 
d.d., Ljubljana:

l    a long-term deposit in the amount of EUR 
417,293 deposited in 2004, and 

l   an interest rate swap contract in the amount 
of EUR 347,800.

Legal transactions that were concluded in 2007 
with other aforementioned related entities of 
the controlling company Triglav Insurance 
Company were entered into for a consideration 
therefore no direct decrease in the Company’s 
assets was recorded. The Company did not 
commit any act or omission that would in any 
way, directly or indirectly, have an impact on a 
decrease in assets or profit of the Company. 
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as a rule, enters into retrocession reinsurance 
agreements only with A graded reinsurers in 
case of liability reinsurance, and with BBB+ 
graded reinsurers in  case of other classes of 
reinsurance. 

Concentration of reinsurance risk 
A key aspect of the reinsurance risk faced by 
the Company is the concentration of reinsur-
ance risk arising from a particular event or se-
ries of events. Such concentration may arise 
through a number of reinsurance contracts 
with the same territorial scope of cover. It 
could also arise from the accumulation of 
risks within a number of different insurance 
classes.   

Concentrations of risk can arise in low fre-
quency loss events (such as natural disas-
ters), in situations where the Company is 
exposed to unexpected changes in trends 

(e.g. unexpected changes in human mortality) 
or unexpected changes in legislation which 
could have an impact on policy proceeds or 
damages.  

The greatest likelihood of significant losses to 
the Company arises from catastrophe events. 
The risks are controlled by measurement of 
geographical accumulations and assess-
ment of probable maximum losses caused by 
a natural disaster. Based on the analysis of 
observations, the Company buys retrocession 
reinsurance cover for net claims paid on net 
premium.

The assessment of risk exposure by country in 2007*: (in mio EUR)

Israel 8.7

Austria 7.2

South Korea 7.1

Turkey 7.0

Romania 6.4

Germany 6.3

Finland 4.9

Greece 4.5

China 4.3

Chile 3.8

Indonesia 3.7

Great Britain 3.7

France 3.6

Bosnia and Herzegovina 3.4

Japan 2.9

Serbia 2.9

Italy 2.8

Columbia 2.7

Portugal 2.6

Taiwan 2.6

The table below shows the accumulation of reinsurance risk by country in 2007:

* Retention by loss event amounts to EUR 1.5 million because the Company is 
hedged by retrocession reinsurance contract (Retro CAT XL).

1.29	 Insurance Risk management

The Company aims to implement a compre-
hensive risk management system as a key 
component of good management and effec-
tive yield management. It incorporates: the 
awareness that risk is an essential part of the 
corporate and business planning as well as 
the work of individual departments; the com-
pliance with the requirements of Solvency 
II; the advancement of well-thought-out and 
responsible risk exposure as a legitimate 
answer to opportunity and uncertainty; the 
attainment of better operating results by as-
sessment of challenges, in real terms, faced 
by the Company, by improved decision-mak-
ing and planned risk management and con-
trol system management; the establishment, 
strengthening and replication of good busi-
ness practices in respect of risk manage-
ment; and the quality risk management, both 
at the level of the Company and at the level 
of the Triglav Group, coordinated by the Risk 
Management Department of Triglav Insur-
ance Company.       

The Company is exposed to risks arising from 
all lines of business, such as insurance risk 
(reinsurance business), operational risk and 
financial risk. The Company as a dynamic 
entity generates, by the nature of things, new 
risks that are to be controlled and managed.  
The Company aims to proactively identify, un-
derstand and manage risks arising from the 
operation of divisions and services and asso-
ciated with the Company’s plans and strategy 
to advance well-thought-out and responsible 
risk exposure. The Company does not sup-
port a reckless risk exposure.  

The Company defines the risk in its Risk Man-
agement Policy as “the danger or probability 
that an act or event could have a negative 
or a positive impact on the Company’s abil-
ity to attain its goals.” Risk management is a 
carefully planned and systematic approach to 
identification, assessment, management and 
control of risks. Risk management includes 
assessment of measures applied by the Com-
pany with a view to manage identified risks, 
and recommendation of actions to be imple-
mented by the Company in order to efficiently 
manage these risks. Risk management may 
reduce the probability of a risk event occur-
ring or limit its consequence by implementa-
tion of control mechanism. 

Insurance risk relates to the uncertainty of 
the reinsurance business. The most sig-
nificant components of Insurance risk are 
the insurance premium risk and the reserve 
risk. Insurance premium risk is the risk that 
expenses and incurred losses will be higher 
than the insurance premium received. Re-
serve risk represents the risk that the abso-
lute level of the technical provisions is mises-
timated or that the actual claims will fluctuate 
around the statistical mean value. Non-life 
insurance risk includes also the risk of a large 
number of claims from a single loss event (ca-
tastrophe risk), which streams from irregular 
events that are not sufficiently reinsured, and 
underreserving risk.       

Management of risks
The Company manages its insurance risk 
through observance of retention limits from 
the Table of Retentions, approval procedures 
for transactions, testing of the adequacy of 
reinsurance premiums, verification of the 
cedents’ technical results, and reinsurance 
underwriting.  

The Company reinsurance underwriting 
strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced 
portfolio. A balanced portfolio is a portfolio of 
similar risks, which reduces the variability of 
the outcome. As a rule, the reinsurance con-
tracts are annual in nature and the Company 
has the right to refuse renewal or to change 
the terms and conditions of the contract at 
renewal.   

The Company concludes outwards reinsur-
ance agreements (retrocession agreements) 
for a portion of the risks it reinsures in order 
to control its exposure to losses and protect 
capital resources. The Company buys a com-
bination of proportionate and non-proportion-
ate retrocession agreements to reduce its 
exposure so as to comply with the amounts in 
the Table of Retentions. To hedge against the 
accumulation of a greater number of losses 
arising out of one occurrence (e.g. natural di-
saster), the Company buys non-proportional 
catastrophe cover. 

Retroceded reinsurance contains credit risk 
which occurs if the reinsurer fails to meet 
contractual obligations. The Company moni-
tors the financial conditions of reinsurers and, 
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The liabilities are estimated based on the 
maturity of up to 1 year, the maturity from 1 
to 5 years, and the maturity of more than 5 

years. The liabilities are not discounted; they 
are estimated as the sum of expected future 
cash flows.

STRUCTURE OF LIABILITIES

2007

Less than 
1 year

1-5 years More than 
5 years

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Gross technical provisions 37,492 17,196 5,537 60,225

Provision for unearned premiums 12,770 2,496 412 15,678

Notified outstanding claims reserve 
(reserve after bordereaux) & incurred 
but not reported reserve (IBNR 
reserve)

24,577 14,700 5,125 44,402

Other technical provisions* 145 0 0 145

2007

Less than 
1 year

1-5 years More than 
5 years

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Net technical provisions 27,391 9,325 3,692 40,408

Provision for unearned premiums 9,442 1,421 159 11,022

Notified outstanding claims reserve 
(reserve after bordereaux) & incurred 
but not reported reserve (IBNR 
reserve)

17,804 7,904 3,533 29,241

Other technical provisions* 145 0 0 145

*Other technical provisions do not include equalisation provision in the amount of EUR 812 thousand, 
because it is not recorded in the balance sheet under technical provisions; it is recorded under equity. 
Gross (Net) technical provisions including equalisation provision would have amounted to EUR 61,037 
thousand (EUR 41,220 thousand). 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of an 
investment will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rate. Interest rate risk is 
defined as a sensitivity of the value of an in-
vestment to changes in market interest rates. 
Investment duration is the measure of risk. 
The interest rate risk is managed on a global 
level by strategic diversification of invest-
ments into fixed-return investments (debt se-
curities), variable-return investments (shares 
and other investments) and provisions cov-
ering these investments. The Company also 
controls the interest rate risk by derivative 
financial instruments, i.e. swap contracts. 
The Company is presently contractually com-
mitted to hedge against interest rate risk on 
a bond investment in the contract amount of 
EUR 347,800.

The Company’s exposure to market risk for 
changes in interest rates is concentrated in 
its investment portfolio. The Company’s oper-
ations are subject to the risk of interest rate 
fluctuation to the extent that interest earning 
assets and interest bearing liabilities mature 
or reprice at different times or in differing 
amounts. In 2007, cash was deposited at the 
interest rate ranging from 2.90% to 5.25%. 
The interest rate was subject to the amount 
and maturity of time deposits. 

The Company is also exposed to the risk of 
changes in future cash flows arising from the 
changes in market interest rates. This risk, is, 
however, limited considering that the major-
ity of the Company’s interest bearing invest-
ments at the balance sheet date bear fixed 
interest rates.     

1.30	 Financial Risk Management 

Transactions with financial instruments re-
sult in the Company assuming financial risks. 
These include market risk, credit risk (includ-
ing reinsurance credit risk) and liquidity risk. 
Each of these financial risks is described be-
low, together with a summary of the ways in 
which the Company manages these risks. 

Market risk
The Company’s investment portfolio is ex-
posed to market variables on which the Com-
pany has not influence. These market vari-
ables are market interest rates and with them 
related prices of debt instruments, prices of 
equity securities and investment funds, for-
eign currency exchange rates, and other fac-
tors having direct or indirect impact on the 
valuation of investments in the portfolio.  

Asset/liability matching  
The Company actively manages its assets us-
ing an approach that balances quality, diversi-

fication, asset/liability matching, liquidity and 
investment return. The goal of the investment 
process is to optimise the after-tax, risk-ad-
justed investment income and risk-adjusted 
total return, whilst ensuring that the assets 
and liabilities are managed on a cash-flow 
and duration basis. Due attention is given to 
the compliance with the rules established by 
the Law. 

The Company establishes target asset portfo-
lios for each major insurance product, which 
represents the investment strategies used to 
fund profitably its liabilities within acceptable 
levels of risk. These strategies include objec-
tives for effective duration, yield curve, sensi-
tivity, liquidity, asset sector concentration and 
credit quality. 

The structure of assets by cash flow and the 
structure of liabilities by maturity are anal-
ysed below as follows:

STRUCTURE OF ASSETS

Securities by class and by cash flow maturity 

2007

Class of securities Undefined Less than 
1 year

1-5 years More than 
5 years

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

 Total: 16,868 6,892 18,982 26,949 69,691

Securities – in the country 0 1,669 8,764 18,723 29,156

Securities of financial institutions 0 79 2,480 3,250 5,809

Securities of corporations 0 0 7,321 2,926 10,247

Combined securities 0 0 0 2,050 2,050

Deposits 0 5,144 417 0 5,561

Other equity securities 16,868 0 0 0 16,868

Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract provisions by maturity

2007

Less than 
1 year

1-5 years More than 
5 years

Total

EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000

Retroceded technical provisions 10,101 7,871 1,845 19,817

Provision for unearned premiums 3,328 1,075 253 4,656

Notified outstanding claims reserve (reserve after 
bordereaux) & incurred but not reported reserve 
(IBNR reserve)

6,773 6,796 1,592 15,161

Other technical provisions* 0 0 0 0

Business Report Notes to the financial statements



82 83

Balance at 31 December 2007 (in EUR):

Net technical provisions

Currency Amount Percentage

EUR 37,315,714 92.35%

USD 937,194 2.32%

Other 2.154.764 5,3%

Total 40,407,672 100%

Balance at 31 December 2006 (in EUR):

Net technical provisions

Currency Amount Percentage

SIT 23,512,358 69.08%

EUR 5,651,143 16.60%

USD 935,124 2.75%

Other 3.939.942 11,6%

Total 34,038,567 100%

Balance at 31 December 2007 (in EUR):

Liability fund investments  

Currency Amount Percentage

EUR    59,668,341      99.55%

USD        208,215      0.35%

Other           55,166        0.10%

Total   59,931,722      100%

Balance at 31 December 2006 (in EUR):

Liability fund investments  

Currency Amount Percentage

Other 48,622,117 98.28%

USD 797,157 1.61%

EUR 54,721 0.11%

Total 49,473,995 100%

The Company does not have any debt obliga-
tions and interest rate changes also do not 
influence the level of non-life provisions. The 
prescribed interest rate, to some extent, re-
flects expected movement in interest yields 
over a longer period of time. 

The Company monitors this exposure through 
periodic reviews of its asset and liability posi-
tions. In addition, estimates of cash flows, as 
well as the impact of interest rate fluctuations 
relating to investment portfolio and insurance 
reserves, are modelled and reviewed regu-
larly. The overall objective of these strategies 
is to limit the net changes in the value of as-
sets and liabilities arising from interest rate 
movements. 

Equity price risk
The Company’s portfolio of marketable equity 
securities carried in the balance sheet at fair 
value gives exposure to price risk. Price risk is 
the risk that the value of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual instrument or 
its issuer or factors affecting all instruments 
traded in the market.

The Company’s objective is to earn competi-
tive returns by investing in a diverse portfo-
lio of high quality, liquid securities. Portfolio 
characteristics are analysed regularly. The 

Company’s holdings are diversified across in-
dustries, and concentrations in any one com-
pany or industry are limited by parameters 
established by senior management, as well 
as by statutory requirements.

Foreign exchange risk 
The Company is exposed to currency risk 
through transactions in foreign currencies. 
This is the risk that the value of a financial in-
strument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency ex-
posure arises mainly from investment activi-
ties. The Company manages foreign currency 
risk by trying to ensure matching of invest-
ments and liabilities or technical provisions 
linked to foreign currency. The structure of in-
vestments as at 31 December 2007 reflects 
matching of investments and liabilities within 
the statutory limitations.  

Due to the floating of foreign exchange rates, 
the Company is exposed to currency risk 
through liabilities and receivables, particu-
larly those arising from reinsurance abroad. 
Foreign currency exposure arising from re-
ceivables and liabilities is reduced by ensur-
ing currency matching of receivables due 
from and liabilities due to the same client.   

The currency analysis for the Company’s li-
ability fund investments and net technical 
provisions:
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2007 EUR’000 Reinsurance rating (S&P’s)

Aon Ltd.: 3,234

Swiss Re AA-

Lloyd´s of London A+

Sirius A-

Aspen Re A (acc. To A.M.Best)

Hannover Re AA-

Guy Carpenter GmbH: 1,044

Swiss Re AA-

Mapfre Re AA-

XL Re A+

Heath Lambert Ltd.: 444

Munich Re AA-

Swiss Re AA-

Hannover Re AA-

Odyssey Re A-

Mapfre Re AA-

4,722

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of 
the Company’s activities and in the manage-
ment of positions. It includes both the risk of 
being unable to fund assets at appropriate 
maturities and rates and the risk of being 
unable to liquidate an asset at a reasonable 
price and in an appropriate timeframe.  

The Company holds a portfolio of liquid as-
sets as part of its liquidity risk management 
strategy, to ensure continuous operations 
and compliance with the legal requirements. 

The Company’s liquidity position is good and 
all statutory requirements for claims settle-
ment were met in time during the year. 

Fair value
Fair value represents the amount at which an 
asset could be exchanged or a liability settled 
on an arm’s length basis. Financial assets 
available for sale and financial assets and li-
abilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value.  Loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost less impair-
ment. Management believes that the carrying 
value of these instruments is not significantly 
different from their fair value, assuming that 

all payments on unimpaired exposures will be 
collected as contracted. 

Passive retrocession programme 
The Company manages insurance risks to 
which it is exposed by retroceding a portion 
of its business under its (passive) retroces-
sion contracts.  

The tables below show the reinsurance result 
from passive retrocession transactions in 
2007 and 2006. Incurred loss ratio including 
commissions amounted to 75.8 % in 2007 
and 44.0 % in 2006. Incurred loss ratio ex-
cluding commissions amounted to 62.0 % in 
2007 and 35.2 % in 2006. The fluctuation 
of these results does not increase the Com-
pany’s risk exposure because the differences 
are due to emergence of large claims or ca-
tastrophe claims that are mostly retroceded 
to foreign business partners. In 2007, large 
claims were recorded due to the floods in the 
central and northern part of Slovenia in Sep-
tember 2007. Because of the level of claims, 
non-proportional reinsurance was used to 
protect its retention against catastrophe 
events, i.e. the amount of loss in excess of 
joint priority of the cedent and the Company.      

Credit risk 
The credit risk is the risk that a party to a finan-
cial instrument contract will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the Company to incur a 
financial loss. Credit risk arises in connection 
with investment in equity securities, debt secu-
rities, loans, and deposits. 

The Company manages the credit risk in ac-
cordance with the principle of diversification of 
investments. The greatest total investment in a 
single financial organisation as at 31 Decem-
ber 2007 amounts to EUR 486 thousand. The 
investments in domestic securities make up, 
due to statutory limitations, by far the greatest 
portion of the portfolio. Owing to the principle 
of diversification of investments, however, the 
share of investments in foreign securities in-
creases. 

Presently, the investments in foreign securi-
ties amount to EUR 20.8 million. In the inter-
national markets, the Company mainly invests 
in securities with Aa3 rating.

Domestic securities are largely guaranteed by 
the Republic of Slovenia, which was assigned 
the AA rating by the Moody’s rating agency as 
at 31 December 2007. Investments in the se-
curities of the Republic of Slovenia represent 
40% of the Company’s liability fund.  

Receivables and liabilities are also subject to 
credit risk. The Company manages this risk by 
mutual offset of receivables and liabilities re-
lating to the same reinsurer (offset of premium 
receivable and claims and commission payable 
in the active reinsurance, and offset of claims 
and commission receivable and premium pay-
able in the passive reinsurance).  Management 
has a credit policy in place and exposure to 
credit risk is monitored on a ongoing basis. 

The Company has adopted a conservative risk 
management policy.  

Credit risk exposure of bond portfolio within the liability fund and own funds:

Liability fund Own funds

A1 4.9% 0.0%

A2 7.6% 6.8%

A3 7.2% 0.0%

Aa1 0.8% 1.7%

Aa2- 0.0% 0.0%

Aa3 50.7% 0.0%

Aaa- 1.2% 0.0%

Baa2 2.5% 0.0%

Ba2 0.0% 0.0%

BBB 2.8% 0.0%

without rating 22.3% 91.5%

100.0% 100.0%

The risks retroceded to a reinsurer include the 
credit risk which occurs if the reinsurer fails to 
meet contractual obligations. To mitigate the 
risk of reinsurance counterparties not paying 
amounts due, business and financial standards 
for reinsurer approval are established, incor-
porating ratings by major rating agencies and 
considering current market information. The 
Company monitors the financial conditions of 
reinsurers and, as a rule, enters into retroces-
sion reinsurance contracts only with A- graded 
reinsurers in case of liability reinsurance, and 
with BBB+ graded reinsurers in case of other 
classes of reinsurance.   

The following are the top three reinsurers by 
reinsurance receivables as at 31 December 
2007. In our case these are: Aon, Guy Carpen-
ter, and Heath Lambert, which are reinsurance 
brokers and therefore do not have a rating. 
From the point of view of a credit risk, the rating 
of the reinsurer, to whom the reinsurance busi-
ness has been mediated, is important. Stated 
under each reinsurance broker in the below 
table are retrocedants and their ratings.
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Class of business Premiums written in 
2007

Passive commission 
2007

Passive premiums 
written less commis-

sion in 2007

Change in unearned 
premiums from 
2006 to 2007

Premiums earned 
in 2007

Claims settled in 
2007

Change in claims 
reserve from 2006 

to 2007

Incurred claims in 
2007

Technical result 
- amount

Technical 
result - %

Incurred loss 
ratio - %

1 2 3 4=2-3 5 6=4-5 7 8 9=7+8 10=6-9 11=10/6 12=9/6

01: Accident 215.926 29.999 185.927 3.327 182.600 62.686 9.142 71.829 110.772 60,7% 39,3%

02: Health 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ~ ~

03: Land vehicles 4.242.148 227.544 4.014.603 124.761 3.889.842 1.633.267 118.339 1.751.605 2.138.237 55,0% 45,0%

04: Railway rolling stock 647.640 0 647.640 0 647.640 0 0 0 647.640 100,0% 0,0%

05: Aircraft 733.281 89.220 644.062 43.377 600.684 72.885 -113.824 -40.940 641.624 106,8% -6,8%

06: Ships 26.843 0 26.843 0 26.843 0 -1 -1 26.844 100,0% 0,0%

07: Goods in transit 620.436 32.396 588.040 -19.223 607.263 24.688 7.489 32.177 575.086 94,7% 5,3%

08: Fire and natural forces 17.860.749 4.004.946 13.855.803 299.495 13.556.308 6.984.649 1.017.879 8.002.528 5.553.781 41,0% 59,0%

09: Other damage to property 6.118.221 1.310.061 4.808.160 -169.262 4.977.422 5.996.364 994.426 6.990.790 -2.013.368 -40,5% 140,5%

10: Motor vehicle liability 2.632.924 277.871 2.355.053 68.242 2.286.810 684.648 1.333.340 2.017.988 268.822 11,8% 88,2%

11: Aircraft liability 701.791 49.779 652.011 -36.811 688.823 14.132 471.347 485.479 203.344 29,5% 70,5%

12: Liability for ships 29.103 0 29.103 7.907 21.196 0 -23 -23 21.219 100,1% -0,1%

13: General liability 1.029.280 135.283 893.996 -81.851 975.847 88.673 127.492 216.165 759.682 77,8% 22,2%

14: Credit 554.425 158.591 395.834 24.769 371.064 204.398 373.951 578.350 -207.285 -55,9% 155,9%

15: Suretyship 262.361 87.469 174.892 -96.005 270.897 15.677 46.085 61.762 209.135 77,2% 22,8%

16: Miscellaneous financial loss 1.336.974 351.611 985.362 31.038 954.325 723.632 1.907.236 2.630.868 -1.676.543 -175,7% 275,7%

17: Legal expense 0 0 0 0 0 5 -1 4 -4 ~ ~

18: Assistance 118.942 50 118.893 9.460 109.433 48.780 22.669 71.450 37.983 34,7% 65,3%

19: Life 176.805 18.219 158.587 1.341 157.246 123.743 -486 123.257 33.989 21,6% 78,4%

TOTAL 37.307.849 6.773.040 30.534.810 210.566 30.324.244 16.678.227 6.315.061 22.993.288 7.330.956 24,2% 75,8%

Passive Retrocession Result, Including Commission, in 2007 (in EUR)
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Class of business Premiums written in 
2006

Passive commission 
2006

Passive premiums 
written less commis-

sion in 2006

Change in unearned 
premiums from 
2005 to 2006

Premiums earned 
in 2006

Claims settled in 
2006

Change in claims 
reserve from 2005 

to 2006

Incurred claims in 
2006

Technical result 
- amount

Technical 
result - %

Incurred loss 
ratio - %

1 2 3 4=2-3 5 6=4-5 7 8 9=7+8 10=6-9 11=10/6 12=9/6

01: Accident 205.407 28.855 176.552 -2.205 178.758 66.063 2.156 68.218 110.539 61,8% 38,2%

02: Health 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ~ ~

03: Land vehicles 3.005.883 120.364 2.885.518 69.956 2.815.562 1.553.184 139.125 1.692.309 1.123.253 39,9% 60,1%

04: Railway rolling stock 719.362 0 719.362 0 719.362 0 0 0 719.362 100,0% 0,0%

05: Aircraft 509.598 25.424 484.174 102.574 381.600 0 113.824 113.824 267.776 70,2% 29,8%

06: Ships 22.040 51 21.989 0 21.989 -9.706 53 -9.653 31.642 143,9% -43,9%

07: Goods in transit 761.896 19.913 741.983 -11.124 753.106 -12.881 -286 -13.167 766.273 101,7% -1,7%

08: Fire and natural forces 17.769.362 5.090.506 12.678.856 1.907 12.676.950 5.874.174 -7.898 5.866.277 6.810.673 53,7% 46,3%

09: Other damage to property 5.854.306 1.050.798 4.803.508 311.015 4.492.493 2.131.653 -1.066.474 1.065.179 3.427.314 76,3% 23,7%

10: Motor vehicle liability 3.908.231 170.457 3.737.774 128.021 3.609.753 1.719.346 652.186 2.371.532 1.238.221 34,3% 65,7%

11: Aircraft liability 1.059.736 50.916 1.008.820 -70.194 1.079.014 10.074 21.889 31.963 1.047.051 97,0% 3,0%

12: Liability for ships 11.985 0 11.985 0 11.985 -1.634 -61 -1.695 13.680 114,1% -14,1%

13: General liability 946.333 86.384 859.949 -9.328 869.278 112.162 915.714 1.027.877 -158.599 -18,2% 118,2%

14: Credit 502.225 175.309 326.917 -25.878 352.795 159.097 -87.515 71.582 281.213 79,7% 20,3%

15: Suretyship 459.480 119.720 339.760 192.767 146.993 -4.502 -4.846 -9.349 156.342 106,4% -6,4%

16: Miscellaneous financial loss 1.102.498 372.541 729.957 687 729.270 160.614 269.671 430.285 298.985 41,0% 59,0%

17: Legal expense 0 0 0 0 0 3 -34 -31 31 ~ ~

18: Assistance 135.272 52 135.220 -1.174 136.394 46.228 7.974 54.202 82.192 60,3% 39,7%

19: Life 162.827 5.173 157.654 0 157.654 72.780 -1.224 71.556 86.098 54,6% 45,4%

TOTAL 37.136.443 7.316.464 29.819.979 687.023 29.132.956 11.876.655 954.255 12.830.910 16.302.046 56,0% 44,0%

Passive Retrocession Result, Including Commission, in 2006 (in EUR)
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Capital adequacy risk 
In compliance with the Insurance Act and 
other implementing regulations, the Company 
is liable to ensure capital adequacy with re-
gard to the volume and class of its reinsur-
ance business. The required minimum capi-
tal amounted to EUR 9,824,398 as at 31 
December 2007 (2006: EUR 8,761,254) 
and the available capital to EUR 26,548,703 
(2006: EUR 16,550,196). The excess of 
available capital over the required minimum 
capital was high (EUR 16,724,305 as at 31 
December 2007 and EUR 7,788,942 as at 
31 December 2006). Therefore the risk of 
capital inadequacy may be considered negli-
gible. The excess of available capital over the 
required minimum capital increased in 2007 
by 115 % over the previous year’s figure. 
The available capital exceeded the required 
minimum capital by more than 70 % as at 
31 December 2007. Based on this, the Com-
pany considers that the risk management is 
adequate and the risk of capital inadequacy 
effectively minimised. 

Risk of adequacy of technical provisions 
Provisioning risk is the risk of technical pro-
visions proving inadequate in light of later 
events. The Company manages this risk by 
consistently complying with all statutory re-
quirements, implementing regulations, and 
resolutions concerning technical provisions. 
In addition, provisions for incurred but not 
reported claims (IBNR provisions) are made 
periodically using the relevant actuarial meth-
ods. Due to the particularity of the Company’s 
operations, the triangle of claims paid that is 
prepared on the basis of the occurrence of 
loss event cannot be used as the basis for the 
actuarial assessment of provisions for claims 
outstanding. Instead, the data on claims set-
tled is prepared by underwriting (contract) 
year and then, by use of the relevant actuarial 
methods, expected future liabilities per con-
tract year are assessed. Provisions for claims 
outstanding are not discounted. The test of 
adequacy of gross and net technical provi-
sions is shown in the table in note 1.16 (e). 
The test is performed by taking into account 
unearned premiums because, as a rule, as-
sessed liabilities of reinsurers are classified 
by underwriting (contract) year and include li-
abilities for the settlement of which unearned 
premiums are intended. In the upper triangle 
of the table, originally assessed provision and 
its subsequent reassessment (up to 5 years 
later) are shown by financial year. In the lower 
triangle of the table, the amount of cumulative 

claims settled or paid is shown. The relevant 
amount is lower than provision meaning that 
the provisioning is adequate. The cumulative 
excess provision (= originally assessed pro-
vision less last reassessed provision) was 
positive in all years meaning that the risk of 
adequacy of technical provisions was man-
aged also in 2007. 

1.31	 Events after the balance 	
	 sheet date 

In the first quarter of 2008, adverse changes 
in market conditions affected the valuation of 
investments. These changes were due to a 
loan crisis which had an impact on the valu-
ation of both bond investments and share in-
vestments. The effect of price changes on the 
value of the Company’s portfolio is -EUR 3.2 
million or more than -4.5 %. 



92 93

7. General 
Information



94

REGISTERED OFFICE
Triglav Re, Reinsurance Company Ltd.
Miklošičeva 19
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia
Phone: + 386 1 474 79 00
Fax: + 386 1 433 14 19
e-mail: mail@triglavre.si
web page: http://www.triglavre.si

SUPERVISORY BOARD OF TRIGLAV RE
Chairman - Andrej Kocič
Members - Borut Eržen, Mateja Perger, 
Boštjan Kramberger (until 28.7.2008)

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT OF 
TRIGLAV RE

Gojko Kavčič 
President of the Management Board

Milena Uršič 
Member of the Management Board

The following companies within the Triglav 
Group are consolidated:

Triglav Insurance Company, Ltd.
Miklošičeva 19
Slovenia - 1000 Ljubljana
Phone: + 386 1 474 72 00
Fax: + 386 1 432 63 02

Triglav Health Insurance
Pristaniška ulica 10
Slovenia - 6000 Koper
Phone: + 386 5 66 22 000, 
Fax: + 386 5 66 22 002

Triglav Osiguranje
Republike Austrije 1 
Croatia - 10 002 Zagreb
Phone: + 385 1 344 41 05
Fax: + 385 1 344 41 73

Triglav BH Osiguranje
Dolina 8
BiH - 71000 Sarajevo
Phone: + 387 332 521 11 
Fax: + 387 332 521 79

Triglav Pojišt’ovna
Novobranska 544/1 
Czech Republic - 602 00 Brno
Phone: + 420 5 424 250 00
Fax: + 420 5 422 179 10

Lovčen Osiguranje
Ulica Slobode 13a 
Montenegro - 81 000 Podgorica
Phone: + 382 81 404 400
Fax: + 382 81 665 281

Triglav Kopaonik Osiguranje
Kralja Petra 28
Serbia – 11 000 Belgrade
Phone: + 381 11 33 05 100 
Fax: + 381 11 33 05 138

Triglav penzijski fondovi
Zmaj Jovina 15
Serbia – 11 000 Belgrade
Phone: + 381 11 30 36 356

Triglav Krajina Kopaonik
Kralja Petra I Karadjordjevića 103 
BiH - 78000 Banja Luka 13
Phone/Fax: + 386 51 21 55 262 

Vardar Osiguruvanje
Gradski Zid blok 8 
Macedonia - 1000 Skopje
Phone: + 389 2 328 66 00
Fax: + 389 2 328 66 60

Publisher: Triglav Re, Reinsurance Company Ltd.
Production: Triglav Re, Reinsurance Company Ltd.

Design: Nuit d.o.o., AD Mateja Jenič
Photo: Lorenka Stropnik 

Print: Bograf d.o.o.
Print run: 150 

Ljubljana, august 2008



Triglav Re, Reinsurance Company Ltd.
Miklošičeva 19
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia
Phone: + 386 1 474 79 00
Fax: + 386 1 433 14 19
e-mail: mail@triglavre.si
www.triglavre.si


